
~1~ 

(Translation- In case of any discrepancy between the Chinese and English versions, the Chinese version shall prevail.) 

TrueLight Corporation 

 

Year 2023 Annual General Shareholders Meeting Minutes (Translation) 
 

Date of the Meeting：9:00 A.M., May 24, 2023 
Place of the Meeting：(B1) 21, Prosperity Rd. 1, Hsinchu Science Park, Hsinchu 

Type of the Meeting：Physical Shareholders Meeting 

Attendance：Total outstanding TL shares 76,474,692 shares, Total shares represented by shareholders 

present in person or by proxy 41,420,127 shares, Percentage of shares held by shareholders 

present in person or by proxy: 54.16% 

Directors present：Chairman- Liu, Sheng-Hsien、Director- Liu, Han-Xing、Independent Director and 

Convener of the Audit Committee - Yang, Tsen-Shau、Independent Director- Tsang, 

Juine-Kai. 

Attendance：For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Taiwan - Chiang Tsai-Yen CPA 

Chairman：Liu, Sheng-Hsien                           Recorder：Chen, Yi-Shin 

The aggregate shareholding of the shareholders present in person or by proxy constituted a quorum. The 

Chairman called the meeting to order. 

1.Chairperson Remarks: Omitted. 

2.Report Items： 

2.1 2022 Business Report 

Explanations: For the 2022 business report, please refer to Attachment 1. 

2.2 Audit Committee’s Review Report on the 2022 Financial Statements. 

Explanations: For the Audit Committee's audit report, please refer to Attachment 2. 

2.3 The Status of Endorsement and Guarantee in 2022 

Explanations: For the Company's 2022 annual endorsement guarantee, please refer to Attachment 3. 

2.4 The Company’s 2022 Annual Report on the Remuneration of Director's 

Explanations: Please refer to Attachment 4 of the Company's policies, criteria and combination of 

remuneration to directors and independent directors, procedures for setting remuneration and business 

performance, relevance of future risks and receipt of directors' remuneration of the Company. 

2.5 Communication between members of the audit committee and the supervisor of the internal 

department 

 Explanations: For the communication between the members of the Audit Committee and the 

supervisor of Internal Audit, please refer to Attachment 5. 

3.Proposal Items： 

3.1 Ratification of 2022 Business Report and Financial Statements. (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Explanatory Notes： 

(1) The compilation of the Company’s 2022 Business Report and Financial Statements are     

completed. The Financial Statements have been audited and certified by independent certified 

public accountants, Cheng Ya-Huei and Chiang, Tsai-Yen of PricewaterhouseCoopers Taiwan, 

and reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company. Adoption Requested. 

Since the company has not made a profit, the remuneration of employees and directors is not 

mentioned and assigned according to regulations. 

(2) The above-mentioned forms are submitted to the Board of Auditors for verification and are 

hereby submitted for recognition in accordance with the law. 

(3) For the 2022 Annual Business Report and Financial Statements, please refer to Attachment 1 to 2, 

6 to 7. 
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Summary of questions from shareholder account number 88102: 

A. The company’s profit and loss statement in the past five years has suffered losses in four years, 

and the interest coverage ratio has been negative in four years. The average sales days in 111 

years are about 8 months, and the average cash receipts are about 2 months. Please explain the 

reasons for the losses and the company’s future direction of operation. 

B. Please explain why the consolidated gross profit in 2022 was 26%, which was lower than the 

individual gross profit of 28%. 

C. Subsidiary- YLTLink Technology Corporation has a capital of NTD180 million, and the 

shareholding ratio of TL in 2021 with an investment of NTD60 million is 72.33%, and the 

shareholding ratio of 2022 with an investment of NTD68,330,000 is 40.92%. Please explain the 

decrease in the shareholding ratio reason. 

D. According to the company's current announced revenue amount and estimated investment in 

research and development costs is upto NTD150 million, please explain whether there will be 

too much risk in revenue for the amount of research and development expenses. 

 

The Chairman has instructed General Manager Liu, Han-Xing to provide a summary in response 

and explanation: 

 

A. In 2015, when GPON was in high demand, TrueLight Corporation expanded its production 

capacity and invested heavily in research and development. The company achieved record 

profits in 2014 and 2015, surpassing all previous records. However, in 2016 and 2017, TrueLight 

Corporation's major customers, ZTE Corporation and Huawei Technologies in mainland China, 

were subjected to economic sanctions by the United States. The ongoing trade war between the 

US and China led to successive measures of sanctions imposed by the US government. 

Subsequently, the Chinese government introduced the "China Chip" policy to support domestic 

companies and promote self-sufficiency in the semiconductor industry. Mainland Chinese 

packaging manufacturers emerged one after another, leading to an oversupply situation. In the 

face of intense competition, Chinese manufacturers competed on price regardless of quality. As a 

result, TrueLight Corporation experienced a significant decrease in capacity utilization in 2015. 

With reduced selling prices and quantities that did not reach the economy of scale, the 

company's operational efficiency declined, resulting in substantial losses. 

 

B. Furthermore, the company's sales strategy starts from the wafer fabs, where we produce the so-

called wafers. The wafers are then packaged into TO-CAN (Transistor Outline-Controller Area 

Network) packages, and the TO-CAN packages are further assembled into OSA (Optical Sub-

Assembly). Each process takes approximately two months, including the time for material 

preparation. As a result, TrueLight Corporation has a longer average sales cycle or days of sales 

outstanding. 

 

C. The main reasons for the company's future direction of gradually moving towards the front-end 

wafer process development are as follows: 

(a). Meeting the Growing Demand for Data Centers in the Rapidly Advancing AI Era: With the 

rapid development of AI technologies, there is a significant increase in the demand for data 

storage and access. By becoming a specialized wafer foundry for professional optoelectronic 

components, the company can cater to the substantial needs of data centers and position itself 

as a key player in this market segment. 

(b). Expansion into the Third-Party Semiconductor Wafer Foundry Field: The company aims to 

gradually enter the field of third-party semiconductor wafer foundry services. By forming 

alliances with niche companies in the upstream and downstream sectors, the company can 

establish a virtual IDM (Integrated Device Manufacturer) model. This collaboration allows 
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for a more integrated supply chain and seeks high-profit growth opportunities, ultimately 

enhancing the company's overall operational efficiency. 

These strategic directions align with the company's goal of capitalizing on the growing demand 

for data centers driven by AI advancements while also expanding its presence in the 

semiconductor wafer foundry industry. By focusing on these areas, the company aims to achieve 

sustained growth and improve its overall business performance. 

 

D. The main reason for the company's consolidated gross profit of 26% in 2022 fiscal year being 

lower than the individual gross profit of 28% is primarily due to losses incurred by subsidiary 

companies. 

 

E. The decrease in the company's shareholding percentage in subsidiary company YLTLink 

Technology Corporation: the financial statements have been audited by certified accountants. The 

company has followed the prescribed regulations and procedures in handling this matter. 

 

Resolution：Voting Results: Shares represented at the time of voting:41,420,127 Votes，Votes in 

favor：40,045,860 Votes，the total represented share present 96.68 %，Votes against:7,206 

Votes，Votes abstained:1,367,061 Votes，Votes invalid: 0 Votes. The above proposal submitted 

by the Board of Directors was approved upon voting. 

 

3.2 To approve the Proposal for 2022 Deficit Appropriation. (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Explanatory Notes： 

(1) The Company has no distributable surplus for 2022, so it intends not to pay dividends. 

(2) 2022 Deficit Compensation Proposal was resolved by the Board of Directors on March 8, 2023. 

(3) 2022 Deficit Compensation Statement, please refer to Attachment 8 of the Manual. 

Resolution：Voting Results: Shares represented at the time of voting: 41,420,127 Votes，Votes in 

favor：40,033,647 Votes，the total represented share present 96.65 %，Votes against:21,126 

Votes，Votes abstained:1,365,354 Votes，Votes invalid: 0 Votes. The above proposal submitted 

by the Board of Directors was approved upon voting. 

 

4. Discussion Items 

4.1 To amend the “Articles of Incorporation” (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Explanatory Notes： 

(1) To meet the operational needs, it is proposed to amend some provisions of the "Articles of 

Incorporation" of the Company to comply.  

(2) For a comparison table of the amended provisions, please refer to Attachment 9 of the Manual.  

(3) Discussion requested. 

Resolution：Voting Results: Shares represented at the time of voting:41,420,127 Votes，Votes in 

favor：40,046,386 Votes，the total represented share present 96.68 %，Votes against:2,675 

Votes，Votes abstained:1,371,066 Votes，Votes invalid: 0 Votes. The above proposal submitted 

by the Board of Directors was approved upon voting. 

 

4.2 To amend the “Rules of Procedure for Shareholders Meetings” (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Explanatory Notes： 

(1) In response to the regulations changed, it is proposed to amend some provisions of the “Rules of 

Procedure for Shareholders Meetings” " of the Company to comply.  

(2) For a comparison table of the amended provisions, please refer to Attachment 10 of the Manual.  

(3) Discussion requested. 
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Resolution：Voting Results: Shares represented at the time of voting:41,420,127 Votes，Votes in 

favor：40,052,333 Votes，the total represented share present 96.69 %，Votes against:2,723 

Votes，Votes abstained:1,365,071 Votes，Votes invalid: 0 Votes. The above proposal submitted by 

the Board of Directors was approved upon voting. 

 

4.3 To release the Directors from non-competition restrictions (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Explanatory Notes： 

(1) According to Article 209 of the Company Act, a director who does anything for himself/herself 

or on behalf of another person that is within the scope of the company’s business, shall explain 

the essential contents of such action in the Shareholders Meeting and obtain the Shareholders 

Meeting’s approval. 

(2) It is proposed to agree to the competition of independent directors of the company as follows: 

Name Non-compete Content Main Business Items 

Lai,  

Jiun-Hao 

Skymizer Taiwan Inc.  

-Director、Chairman 

Skymizer Intelligent Compiler Solutions for 

Deep Learning Accelerators 

M31 Technology Corp.  

-Consultant 

Silicon IP 

1. Mixed-mode/high-speed IO design  

2. Memory design  

3. Cell-lib design & IO design  

4. Data conversion design 

Andes Technology Corp. 

-Independent Director 

-Member of Audit Committee 

-Member of Remuneration 

Committee 

Processor-based SoC Platforms 

AndeStar™ ISA、AndesCore™ CPUs：

AndeShape™ Platform、AndeSight™ IDE 

AndeSoft™ SW Stack 

Yang,  

Tsen-Shau 

Wuhan Trimode Technology Inc. 

-Consultant 

All kinds of software and hardware products, 

production and production, related technical 

service services; related technical training; 

application of integrated computer systems 

Intelligent Silicon Solution Corp. 

-Director 

-General Manager 

Manufacturing of electronic components, 

information software services, data processing 

services, product design, and international trade 

Chien,  

Yi-Sen 

Chairman of Lianxin Energy Co., 

Ltd. - Legal representative of 

Taiwan Artificial Intelligence 

Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd 

Power generation, power transmission, power 

distribution machinery, other motors, and 

electronic machinery and equipment 

manufacturing; steam-electricity symbiosis 

industry, renewable energy self-use power 

generation equipment industry, electronic 

material wholesale industry; energy technology, 

research and development service industry; heat 

energy supply industry, general investment 

industry, etc. 

Chairman of Changyang Energy 

Co., Ltd. - Legal representative 

of Taiwan Artificial Intelligence 

Agricultural Technology Co., 

Ltd. 

Investment/construction /development /operation 

/management of solar photovoltaic power plants, 

etc.  

(3) Discussion requested. 

Resolution：Voting Results: Shares represented at the time of voting:41,420,127 Votes，Votes in 

favor：40,025,968 Votes，the total represented share present 96.63 %，Votes against:28,860 
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Votes，Votes abstained:1,365,299 Votes，Votes invalid: 0 Votes. The above proposal submitted by 

the Board of Directors was approved upon voting. 

 

4.4 To conduct a private placement of securities (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Explanatory Notes： 

(1) In order to meet the needs of the company's future operations, the company has intent to conduct a 

private placement of securities within the limit of 15,000,000 total issued shares. It is proposed to 

request the Shareholders Meeting to authorize the board of directors to conduct this private 

placement depending on market conditions or company operating needs. 

(2) The basis and rationality of private placement price determination:  

A. The price for the Capital Increase by Issuing New Shares for Cash Consideration in the R.O.C. 

shall not be lower than 80% of the reference price which is set to be the price determined by the 

following calculation, whichever is higher: 

(a) The simple arithmetical average closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company on any 

of the first, third or fifth trading day prior to the pricing date, after deducting the value of 

bonus shares issued as stock dividends and cash dividends, and adding back the value of the 

shares cancelled in connection with capital reduction, or 

(b) The simple arithmetical average closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company for 

thirty trading days prior to the pricing date, after deducting the value of bonus shares issued 

as stock dividends and cash dividends, and adding back the value of the shares cancelled in 

connection with capital reduction. It is proposed that the Board of Directors be authorized, 

complying with the abovementioned rules and within the range resolved by the Shareholders 

Meeting, to determinate pricing date, actual reference price, and actual issue price according 

to the market conditions and objective conditions. 

B. To comply with the regulations and rulings of “Directions for Public Companies Conducting 

Private Placements of Securities” and to consider the private placement conversion timing, the 

strict restrictions on the conversed object and quantity, the company's operating performance, 

and future prospects, the issue price should be reasonable. 

(3) The Method for Selecting Investors: 

A. The object issued in the Proposed Private Placement will only be sold and subscribed by 

investors with qualifications prescribed in Article 43-6 of “Securities and Exchange Act”, 

relevant regulations and administrative rulings. At present, it is tentatively planned that the 

subscribers should be mainly insiders or related parties and strategic investors who may 

participate in the subscription. 

B. The placees are not determined yet. It is proposed to ask the Shareholders Meeting of to 

authorize the board of directors to determine in accordance with the aforementioned laws. If the 

placee to be determined in the future are insiders or related parties, they will be limited to those 

who are willing to meet the company's operating capital needs, understand the company's 

operations, and benefit the company's future operations. At present, it is tentatively determined 

that insiders or people who may participate in private placement.  The list of related parties 

includes: 

Applicant List Selecting Method and Purpose Relationship with the Company 

Liu, Sheng-Hsien 
Insiders of the company and have a 

full understanding of the company's 

operations, so as to provide their 

experience, technology and 

knowledge to improve the company's 

operating efficiency, enrich working 

capital, and strengthen the financial 

structure. 

Director of the company 

Liu, Han-Xing Director of the company 

Xianglin Investment 

Co., Ltd. 

The person in charge is Chairman 's 

spouse of the company 

Chou, Lu-Lu Chairman 's spouse 

Wu, Cheng-Zu Executive VP of the company 

Chen, Ping-Ling VP of the company 

Chen, Chih-Cheng VP of the company 

Fu, Hsueh-Hsing VP of the company 
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If the potential applicant is a legal person, the matters to be disclosed are as follows: 
The Name of the Proposed 

Legal Person 

The Top 10 Shareholders 

of The Legal Person 

Shareholding 

Ratio 

Relationship with the 

Company 

Xianglin Investment Co., 

Ltd. 
Chou, Lu-Lu 100% 

The person in charge is 

Chairman 's spouse of the 

company 

C. If the subscriber is a strategic investor, its selecting method and purpose, necessity and 

anticipated benefits: 

(a) Selecting Methods and Purpose: The selection is limited to strategic investors who can 

strengthen the company's industrial competitiveness and improve overall operational 

efficiency.  

(b) Necessity: In order to adapt to the industrial development trend, strengthen the company's 

competitiveness, reduce capital costs and consider the company's future operation and 

development, the introduction of strategic investors is a necessary strategy for the company's 

long-term development.  

(c) Anticipated Benefits: It can improve the company's financing flexibility and mobility, reduce 

interest costs, and improve the company's future operating performance and competitiveness.  

 

(4) The Justification for the Proposed Private Placement: 

A. The Reasons for not Adopting a Public Offering: Considering a timely and feasible fund raising 

while reducing the cost of capital effectively, and the securities issued in the Proposed Private 

Placement are subject to free share transfer restriction for a period of three (3) years, it can 

ensure long-term partnerships between the company and insiders and strategic investment 

partners.  In addition, by authorizing the board of directors to conduct private placement 

according to the actual needs of the company's operations, it will effectively improve the 

mobility and flexibility of the company's fundraising. The implementation of this plan is 

expected to strengthen the company's competitiveness and improve operational efficiency, 

which is beneficial to shareholders' rights and interests. Therefore, public offering is not 

adopted, and private placement of ordinary shares is issued in accordance with relevant 

regulations such as the Securities Exchange Law.  

B. The Issue Amount of the Proposed Private Placement: The Company proposes to issue within 

the limit of 15,000,000 ordinary shares for Capital Increase by Issuing New Shares for Cash 

Consideration in the R.O.C.  

C. The Use of Fund Raised and Anticipated Benefits: The Company proposes to carry out the 

Proposed Private Placement within one (1) year in one or several phases (no more than 5 times) 

starting from the date of approval by the Shareholders Meeting based on the market conditions 

and the selected investors qualifications. The fund raised from the Proposed Private Placement 

will be used to fund the Company’s working capital, and/or reinvestment. The anticipated 

benefits include expansion of operational scale, strengthening the Company’s competitiveness, 

enhancing financial structure, and improving the company's future operating performance 

should have positive benefits for the company's shareholders' equity. 

 

(5) Except for the free share transfer restriction for a period of three (3) years in accordance with Article 

43-8 of the Act, the company intends to apply to the competent authority for this OTC private 

placement securities transaction after 3 full years since the delivery of the private placement 

securities in accordance with relevant laws and regulations. Except for the aforementioned legal 

restrictions, the rights and obligations of the ordinary shares issued in the Proposed Private 

Placement shall rank pari passu with the issued and outstanding shares of the Company. 

(6) In order to cooperate with the handling of this private placement of securities matters, it is proposed 

that the Shareholders Meeting authorize the chairman or his designated representative to sign and 

negotiate all contracts and documents related to this private placement plan on behalf of the 

company, and the one who shall handle all related matters of this private placement plan for the 

company, and is permitted to represent the company to provide relevant information of the 

company to potential private placement targets for due diligence within the scope permitted by laws 
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and regulations. The company may appoint external financial consultants, legal consultants and 

other related consultants to handle related matters. 

(7) It is proposed that the Board of Directors to be authorized by the Shareholders' Meeting with full 

power to set, adjust, and handle major items of above capital increase by issuing new shares for 

cash consideration, including but not limited to the issued prices, issued shares, fund-raising 

amounts, terms and conditions of issuance, funded projects, anticipated progress ,anticipated 

benefits, pricing date, record date of capital increase and other matters pertaining to the capital 

increase by issuing new shares for cash consideration, which may need to be revised based on 

regulatory assessment and the evaluation of the operation, or as a result of the changes to laws and 

regulations or objective environment. 

(8) Discussion requested. 

 

Additional Explanation: 

According to the letter No. 1120001357 issued by the Securities and Futures Investors Protection 

Center, a legal entity under the Securities Investor and Futures Trader Protection Act, on May 2nd of the 

year 2023, the explanation is as follows: 

 

A. This private placement of common shares will not exceed 15,000,000 shares and is expected to be 

conducted once or in multiple tranches (up to a maximum of five tranches). The proposed uses of 

funds and expected benefits for each tranche of the private placement are as follows: 

Number of 

privately 

placed 

common 

shares 

3,000,000 

shares 

3,000,000 

shares 

3,000,000 

shares 

3,000,000 

shares 

3,000,000 

shares 

Utilization of 

funds 

Replenishment of working capita 

Expected 

benefits 

Annual 

interest 

expense 

reduction of 

1.32 million 

yuan. 

Annual 

interest 

expense 

reduction of 

1.32 million 

yuan. 

Annual 

interest 

expense 

reduction of 

1.32 million 

yuan. 

Annual 

interest 

expense 

reduction of 

1.32 million 

yuan. 

Annual 

interest 

expense 

reduction of 

1.32 million 

yuan. 

Note. Assuming that the private placement is conducted at a price of NT$17 per share, the calculation 

would be as follows: NT$17 * 3,000,000 shares = NT$51,000,000 per tranche of funds obtained. 
By injecting funds through the private placement, the company can reduce its operational risks, 

strengthen its financial structure, and enhance future operational performance and long-term 

competitiveness. This will have a positive impact on shareholder equity. 

 

B. The maximum limit for the proposed private placement of common shares is calculated based on a 

total of 15,000,000 shares. Upon completion of the private placement, the proportion of these 

privately placed securities to the total issued shares of the company will not exceed 19.61%. The 

potential participants in this private placement are currently expected to be insiders and their related 

parties. Therefore, the private placement will not result in a change of more than one-third of the 

company's directors, nor will it cause significant changes to the company's ownership. According to 

the law, there is no need to seek underwriters' evaluation opinions or other related matters. 

 

C. Regarding the lifting of the director's non-competition restriction, details regarding the positions held 

by the director in any other company have been disclosed by the company in the supplementary 

information of the shareholders' meeting on April 20th of the year 2023 on the Public Information 

Observation System. Please refer to the TWSE MOPS (https://mops.twse.com.tw) for further 

https://mops.twse.com.tw/
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information. 

 

Resolution：Voting Results: Shares represented at the time of voting:41,420,127 Votes，Votes in favor：

39,968,677 Votes，the total represented share present 96.49 %，Votes against:85,710 Votes，Votes 

abstained:1,365,740 Votes，Votes invalid:0 Votes. The above proposal submitted by the Board of 

Directors was approved upon voting. 

 

5.Extempore Motion: None. 

 

6.Meeting Adjourned: 9:32 A.M  

 

(This English version of the AGM Minutes has been translated from the Chinese version of the AGM Minutes, 

in which the meeting’s content and procedures were audio-video recorded.) 
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Attachment 1： 

TrueLight Corporation 

Business report 

 

In 2022, due to multiple factors such as the global epidemic, shortage of parts and materials, power 

cuts, delays in global transportation networks, and slow construction of 5G base stations, the momentum of 

customer procurement is not as expected. The Ukrainian-Russian war and the continuous interest rate hikes 

in various countries have also reduced global consumption and investment confidence, and inhibited the 

recovery of the global economy. The same is true for optical communication bids and consumer market 

demand, which in turn affects TL's overall operating performance. 

 

1. Operating Performance in 2022 

The company's consolidated net operating income in 2022 was NT$990 million, a decrease of 25% 

from 2021. The consolidated net loss for the current period in 2022 was NT$46 million, the basic loss 

per share was NT$0.34, and the net value per share was NT$10.06. 

1.1 Consolidated financial results： 
Unit: (EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF NEW TAIWAN DOLLARS, EXCEPT LOSS PER SHARE) 

               Year 
Project  

2022  2021 

Operating revenue 989,635 1,313,847 

Gross profit from operation, net  256,604 232,201 

Net operating loss (58,328) (120,670) 

Loss for the year (46,094) (140,546) 

Total comprehensive income for the year (44,554) (141,828) 

Basic loss per share (0.34) (1.74) 

1.2 Consolidated Profitability Analysis： 

             Year 

Project  
2022  202 

Return on Assets (%) (1.91) (6.47) 

Return on Equity (%) (5.89) (16.40) 

Ratio of income before tax to paid-in 

capital (%) 
(6.05) (17.48) 

Net profit rate (%) (4.66) (10.70) 

1.3 Budget implementation： 

The Company does not announce financial forecasts and therefore does not apply. 

2.Business Plan for 2023 

2.1 Marketing and Sales:： 
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The Major revenue of Year 2022 is from the optical communication market, including FTTH 

(fiber to the home), 3G/4G/5G LTE deployment, LAN (Local Area Network) and SAN (Storage 

Area Network) markets. 

Besides, VCSEL products have been certified by several major mobile phone and earphone 

manufacturers applying in sensing components for mobile phones and true wireless Bluetooth 

earphones in the consumer market. The product also contributes to part of revenue and helps to 

extend the product portfolio. The company is continuing to develop new product application to 

expand product visibility. 

This year, under the impact of not stable international situation, inflation and the covid-19, the 

market demand has declined, affecting demand for components. The company is still committed 

to the development of new products and expanding the product application. The company 

successfully developed 10G/25G VCSEL components for industrial applications entering the 

short-reach base station application, also completed the development of 10G/25G industrial multi-

wavelength products and moved into mass production. The product can be applied for the 

deployment of 5G base station. The company is also developing the components suitable for ultra-

temperature range for industry applications. With the popularity of the internet and various online 

applications, high-speed networks have become necessary requirement in daily life. Therefore, in 

the long-term, fiber optical communication, mobile networks and data centers are still key projects 

in infrastructure construction. And the optical sensor applying for consumer products is also 

becoming more and more popular. The company is the only company in the Greater China region 

that has the ability to develop and mass-production VCSELs product from Chip to OSA not only 

for fiber optics but also for consumer application. Future growth opportunities can be expected. 

2.2 Research and Development： 

The company has a strong R&D strength, and has a total of 83 Patent Rights in 2022 years 

(including one new Patented from Taiwan).  2 patents are under license (Taiwan and the United 

States), and 7 patents are under public/actual examination. 

In the fields of cloud computing, 4G LTE (Long Term Evolution) and 5G base stations, access 

networks and FTTH (Fiber to the Home) applications, we continuously develop higher-speed 

lasers and various optical detector components, which can be used to produce products such as 

TO-can and optical sub-modules, in order to enhance product competitiveness and expand market 

share. 

In the application of active optical cable (AOC) and its modules in data centers, we develop 

Chip on Board (CoB) key technology to provide high-density, high-speed, pluggable 100G 

QSFP28 SR4 and 400G QSFP56-DD SR8 products to meet market and customer demands. 

In terms of demand for consumer products at the terminal, the company is dedicated to 

innovating its VCSEL series components for applications such as proximity sensors, True 

Wireless Stereo (TWS), 3D sensing, communication and sensing chips, Virtual Reality (VR), and 

more. It is worth mentioning that the small-angle component exclusively designed by the company, 

used for phone ranging and VCSEL components for Bluetooth wireless earphones, has been 

adopted by several module manufacturers and phone manufacturers due to its excellent reliability 

characteristics. It has accumulated over 1.5 billion component shipment records.  With the rise 
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of different sensing applications (including wireless Bluetooth earphones/ranging, etc.), the 

company has also developed VCSEL crystal chips with high conversion efficiency (45%) and 

small angles, and has widely used them in different sensing products with different requirements. 

In summary, the company has a complete technical platform, from Epitaxy, component design, 

wafer process and mass production capabilities, that can meet the needs of different customers. In 

the future, it will be able to expand more product sales opportunities and drive growth 

opportunities. 

2.3 Manufacturing： 

The company continuous delivery optical communication and consumer products with 

international certified. The company has recently gradually developed a high-end product OEM 

model to meet the needs of worldly known corporations. Due to higher requirements for product 

quality, the automation manufacturing equipment and testing system which we planning and 

purchasing are constantly improving. The hardware and software are continuously strengthened, 

which improves the quality and stability of the overall products. 

The company introduces new process technologies and integrate vertical needs and benefits 

through cooperating advanced products with worldly known corporations. It can strengthen the 

long-term autonomy of products and fully grasp product functions and quality. Then we can 

occupy a good market position early in life, with a view to enhancing long-term competitiveness 

and increasing profitability. 

2.4 Quality Management： 

In accordance with international laws and customer’s requirements, the company has also taken 

responsibility to continue improve green manufacturing. All suppliers and OEMs of the company 

should comply with the RoHS, REACH, China RoHS, RBA, EICC and they are asked for non-

use of conflict minerals and hazardous substances in manufactured production processes or 

products in the supply chain. At the same time, continues to improvement of quality processes 

and product feature/yield rate/reliability, etc., to achieve the quality goals. 

Our core values are integrity, practicality, excellence and sharing. Continuous maintenance and 

keep effective of quality management system (ISO 9001:2015), environmental management 

system (ISO 14001:2015), occupational safety and health management system (ISO 45001:2018), 

Taiwan occupational safety and health management system (CNS45001), hazardous substance 

process management system (IECQ QC080000:2017); deeply to committed social responsibility 

of environment, enhance quality and satisfy customer demands. 

3. Affected by the external competitive environment, regulatory environment and overall business 

environment 

 Since the US-China trade war in 2019 followed by the spread of COVID-19 epidemic in 2020, and 

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine without warning on February 24, 2022, inflation has ravaged the world, 

and central banks of various countries have scrambled to increase their value to fight inflation. The 

Federal Reserve raised its benchmark interest rate on March 2022, ending a two-year period of near-zero 

rates. The United States has raised interest rates by a total of 4.25 percentage points which is faster than 

other major economies. Many commodities in the international market are priced in US dollars. The 
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appreciation of the US dollar will not only increase the cost of imports, but also intensify inflationary 

pressures. The decline in market demand under the pressure of inflation also affects the overall operating 

performance of the company. 

 Furthermore, the epidemic has lasted for three years, China still adheres to the Zero-COVID policy 

and continues to lockdown until the end of September 2022. Therefore, the policy has caused China's 

economic data to slow down and China's domestic consumption to decline. It also caused delays in 

infrastructure construction, posing a serious impact on both the supply and demand sides of the mainland 

Chinese economy. Fortunately, the company has started to develop and expand sales in other regions in 

2019. In 2022, the proportion of our sales to China has dropped from 32.69% in the previous year to 

22.65%, while sales in Europe and the United States increased from 18.17% in 2021 to 24.19% in 2022, 

and has reduced the negative impact of this factor on the company's operations. 

 In terms of changes in laws and regulations, we will continue to pay attention to the implementation 

of information on amendments to various laws and regulations, such as amendments to company laws, 

labor standards laws, industrial safety and environmental protection, and corporate governance, so as to 

meet the requirements of laws and regulations. In terms of the overall economy, due to the frequent 

impact of global economic changes and the impact of geopolitical conflicts, growth variables are still 

very large. 

Although the current global economic and trade growth is slow, while the pressure of inflation and 

interest rate hikes persists, the war between Russia and Ukraine continues, and the US-China technology 

war continues, the downside risk of the global economy is still high, we are still optimistic about the 

coming year. The operation this year is expected to recover gradually, driven by demand for 5G, data 

centers, consumer products, and high-speed product applications after factors such as the epidemic and 

inflation continue to stabilize. 

The company continues to uphold the belief of honesty, practicality, pursuit of excellence, and sharing 

of results, as the goal of creating maximum benefits for shareholders and employees, and abides by 

government regulations and fulfills corporate social responsibilities. We sincerely thank shareholders, 

customers, suppliers and correspondent banks for their trust and support in TL. Thank you! 

 

 

 

Chairman：Liu, Sheng Hsien  

President：Liu, Han Xing   

Accounting Supervisor：Chen, Ping Lin 
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Attachment 2： 

Audit Committee’s Review Report 

 

 

The Board of Directors has prepared and submitted to us the Company’s 2022 Business Report, 

Financial Statements, and proposal for Deficit Compensation. Financial Statements were audited by 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Taiwan and they issued an audited report accordingly. We, as the Audit 

Committee of the Company, have reviewed the Business Report, Financial Statements, and loss 

compensation proposal for earnings distribution and do not find any discrepancies. According to Article 

14-4 of the Securities and Exchange Act and Article 219 of the Company Act, we hereby submit this 

report. 

 

To TrueLight Corporation 2023 Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting 

 

Chairman of the Audit Committee:  

 

 

March 8, 2023 
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Attachment 3：    

 
 

Number

Relationship with

the

endorser/guarantor

Limit on

endorsements/

guarantees

provided for a

single party

Maximun

outstanding

endorsement

/guarantee

amount as at

December

31,2022

Provision of

endorsements/gu

arantees by

parent company

to subsidiay

Provision of

endorsements/gu

arantees by

subsidiary to

parent company

 Provision of

endorsements

/guarantees

to the party in

Mainland

china

（Note1） （Note2） （Note3） （Note4） （Note5）  （Note5） （Note5） Footnote

0 TrueLight

Corporation

ZHUHAI FTZ

PRORAY CO.,LTD.

(2) 764,747$    140,000$   70,000$    9,763$    -        8.75         764,747$   Y N Y -

Ratio of

accumulated

endorsement

/guarantee amount

to net asset value

of the

endorser/guarantor

cpmpany

Ceiling on total

amount of

endorsements/

guarantees

providedEndorser/guarantor Company name

Outstanding

endorsement

/guarantee

amount as at

December

31,2022

Actual amount

drawn down

Amount of

endorsement

s /guarantees

secured with

collateral

     (3).The endorsed /guaranteed company owns  directly and indirectly  more than 50%  voting shares of the endorser /guarantor parent compamy.

     (4).The endorser /guarantor parent  company owns  directly and indirectly more  than 90% voting shares of the  of the endorsed /guaranteed compamy.

     (5).Mutual  guarantee of the trade made by the endorsed/guaranteed compamy of joint contractor as required under the construction contract.

     (6).Due to joint venture, all shareholders provide   endorsements/ guarantees to the endorsed /guaranteed  compamy   in  proportion to its ownership. 

  (7)Joint guarantee of the performance   guarantee for pre-sold home sales contract as required under the Consumer Protection Act.

Note3：According to the company's endorsement/guarantee method, the quota of endorsement/guarantee  for a  enterprise is limited to be up to 10% of the company's latest financial statement paid-in capital.For a company, which is held by 100%

shareholdings

by the company,the quota of endorsement/guarantee is limited to be up to the financial statement paid-in capital.

Note4：The maximum balance of endorsement/guarantee for others in the current year.

Note5：Y must be filled in only if the parent company of the listed company endorses the subsidiary company, if the subsidiary company endorses the parent company of the listed company, and if it belongs to the mainland China area.

                                    Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars,except as otherwise indicated

TrueLight Corporation 

Provision of endorsements and guarantees to others

Year ended December 31,2022

Table 1

Note1：The  numbers filled in for the  endorsements /guarantees provided by the Company or subsidiaries are as  follows：

     (1).The Company is‘ 0’.

     (2).The subsidiaries are numbered in order starting form‘1’.
Note2：Relationship between the endorser/ guarantor and the party  being  endorsed /guaranteed is classified into the following  seven categories:

Party being endorsed/guaranteed

     (1).Having business relationship.

     (2).The endorser /guarantor parent  company owns  directly and indirectly more  than 50% voting shares of the   of the endorsed /guaranteed subsidiary.
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Attachment 4：The company's 2022 annual director's remuneration 
Unit: NT$ thousands、% 

Title Name 

Remuneration of Directors Total 

Remuneration(

A+B+C+D) and 

the Ratio to Net 

Income (%) 

Relevant Remuneration Received by Directors Who Are Also 

Employees 

Total 
Compensation 

(A+B+C+ 
D+E+F+G) and 
the Ratio to 

Net Income (%) 

Remunera
tion from 

ventures 
other 
than 

subsidiari
es or from 
the parent 

company 

Base 
Compensation 

(A) 

Severance Pay 
and 

Pensions (B) 

Bonus to 
Directors 

(C) 

Business  

Execution (D) 

Salary Bonuses and 

Allowances (E) 

Severance Pay and 

Pensions (F) 

Profit Sharing 

Employee Bonus (G) 

The 

Company 

All  

Companies 

in the  

consolidated 

financial 

statements 

The 

Company 

All  

Companies 

in the  

consolidated 

financial 

statements 

The 

Company 

All  

Companies 

in the 

consolidated 

financial 

statements 

The 

Company 

All 

Companies 

in the 

consolidated 

financial 

statements 

The 

Company 

All 

Companies 

in the  

consolidated 

financial 

statements 

The 

Company 

All 

Companies 

in the  

consolidated 

financial 

statements 

The 

Company 

All Companies 

in the  

consolidated 

financial 

statements 

The  

Company 

All 
Companies 
in the  
consolidate
d financial 
statements 

The 

Company 

All  

Companies 

in the  

consolidated 

financial 

statements 
Cash Stock Cash Stock 

Chairman 
and Chief 
Executive 
Officer 

Liu 
Sheng 
Hsien 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,120 8,120 0 0 0 0 0 0 

8,120 

(31.01%) 

8,120 

(31.01%) 
0 

Director 
Liu, 
Han 
Xing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,600 6,800 108 108 0 0 0 0 

5,708 

(21.80%) 

6,908 

(26.38%) 
0 

Director 
Chen  
Cheng 
Kang 

50 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 
50 

(0.19%) 

50 

(0.19%) 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Independent 

Director 
Tsang, 

Juine 

Kai  
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Independent 

Director 

Lai, Jiun 

Hao 600 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 
600 

(2.29%) 

600 

(2.29%) 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Independent 

Director 

Yang, 
Tsen 
Shau 

600 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 
600 

(2.29%) 

600 

(2.29%) 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Independent 

Director 

Chien, 

Yi Sen 600 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 
600 

(2.29%) 

600 

(2.29%) 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

1.Please describe the policy, system, standard, and structure of remuneration to Director and independent directors, and the correlation between duties, risk, and time input with the amount of remuneration： 

 (1) Base Compensation: 

(A)The compensation to directors is based on the overall operating performance of the company, and the degree of the directors’ participation in the company's operations and contribution.  The 

amount of the compensation is based on the industry standard, reviewed by Compensation Committee, and approved by Board of Directors.  A general director who executes the company's business 

will receive his compensation (salary) for concurrently serving the company's duties but not the compensation. The compensation is paid in accordance with Articles of Incorporation, according to 

the degree of his participation in the company's operations and contribution, and in consideration of domestic and foreign industry standards, the Board of Directors are authorized to agree. 

(B)The compensation to independent directors is based on the overall operating performance of the company.  The amount of the compensation is based on the industry standard, reviewed by 

Compensation Committee, and approved by Board of Directors. 

(2) Bonus to Directors: According to Articles of Incorporation, no more than 4% of profit will be appropriated as the director's remuneration.  Directors draw up distribution the proposal and submit it to the 

shareholders' meeting for resolution.  The amount of distribution remuneration will be determined based on comprehensive consideration of directors' responsibilities to Board of Directors, degree of 

participation and contribution. 

2. Except as disclosed in the preceding table, the remuneration received by the directors of the Company in recent years for the services provided to all companies in the financial statements (e.g. as consultants 

to non-employees, etc.): None 

https://dictionary.cambridge.org/zht/%E8%A9%9E%E5%85%B8/%E8%8B%B1%E8%AA%9E-%E6%BC%A2%E8%AA%9E-%E7%B9%81%E9%AB%94/cash
https://dictionary.cambridge.org/zht/%E8%A9%9E%E5%85%B8/%E8%8B%B1%E8%AA%9E-%E6%BC%A2%E8%AA%9E-%E7%B9%81%E9%AB%94/cash


~16~ 

Attachments 5 

Communications Between the Independent Directors and the Internal Auditor 

The internal auditor supervisor attends meetings on a quarterly basis, and communicates the result 

of the audit report and the situation of internal control with the independent directors not only face-to-

face but also thru email or phone if necessary. The internal audit supervisor will deliver the audit 

report and follow-up report to the independent directors for review before the end of the next month. 

Date Reporting Summary Result 

2022/11/09 

Pre-meeting of Audit 

Committee Meeting / 

Board Meeting 

1. Execution reporting： 

  - R&D Cycle 

  - Procurement and payment cycle 

  - Electronic data processing cycle 

2. Candidates for corporate governance 

executives reporting 

3. Discussion on the revision of the internal 

control system and the implementation 

rules of the internal audit operation 

4. The arrangement of Y2023 annual audit 

plan discussing 

All presented members had 

agreed to pass and 

submitted to the board of 

directors for discussion. 

No objection 

 

No objection 

 

 

No objection 

2022/08/03 

Pre-meeting of Audit 

Committee Meeting / 

Board Meeting 

Execution reporting： 

- Finance cycle—Other activities 

- Production & warehousing cycle 

- Property, plant and equipment cycle 

All presented members had 

agreed to pass and 

submitted to the board of 

directors for discussion. 

2022/05/10 

Pre-meeting of Audit 

Committee Meeting / 

Board Meeting 

Execution reporting： 

- Labor and wage cycle 

- Sale and receipt cycle 

All presented members had 

agreed to pass and 

submitted to the board of 

directors for discussion. 

2022/03/09 

Pre-meeting of Audit 

Committee Meeting / 

Board Meeting 

1. Execution reporting： 

- Finance cycle—Other activities 

- Supervision and management of 

subsidiaries 

2. Annual self-assessment of the internal 

control systems effectiveness and Internal 

Control System Statements discussing 

All presented members had 

agreed to pass and 

submitted to the board of 

directors for discussion. 

No objection 
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Attachments 6 

Independent Auditor’s report and 2022 parent company only financial statements 

 

 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of TRUELIGHT COPPORATION 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of TRUELIGHT CORPORATION (the 

“Company”) as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related statements of comprehensive 

income, of changes in equity and of cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying parent company only financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2022 and 

2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 

with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers.  

Basis for opinion 

  We conducted our audits in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and 

Attestation of Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants and Standards on 

Auditing of the Republic of China. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the parent company only financial 

statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the 

Code of Professional Ethics for Certified Public Accountants of the Republic of China (the 

“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 

significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were 

addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and, in forming 

our opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

 

The key audit matters in relation to the parent company only financial statements for the year 

ended December 31,2022 are outlined as follows: 

Evaluation of inventories 

Description 

Refer to Note 4(12) for the accounting policy of inventory evaluation, and Notes 5(2) and 6(4) 

for the description of inventory items. Due to fierce market price competition for the products 

operated by the Company, the risk of inventory price loss is relatively high, and the 
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Company’s inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. For 

inventories that have passed a specific period of age and for inventories that are individually 

identified as obsolete or damaged, the net Realized value often involves manual judgment and 

thus has estimation uncertainty, so the accountant listed this as a key audit matter.  

 

How our audit addressed the matter 

The audit procedures performed by the accountant are based on the understanding of the 

operation and industry nature of the Company, and the evaluation of the inventory. The 

rationality of policies and procedures; the correctness of sampling inventory aging 

calculation; Relevant information, such as sales price, purchase price, and inventory depletion 

status, to confirm the rationality of the net realizable value, and evaluate the rationality of 

provisioning for loss of price reduction. 

Property, plant and equipment value-in-use measurement 

Description 

Refer to Note 4 (17) for the accounting policy on the assessment of impairment of property, 

plant and equipment, and Notes 5(2) and 6(6) for descriptions of property, plant and 

equipment items. The value-in-use of property, plant and equipment shall be used to measure 

its recoverable amount, and the property, plant and equipment shall be evaluated based on the 

aforementioned recoverable amount whether the property, plant and equipment are damaged. 

Valuation of the value-in-use of property, plant and equipment involves estimation and 

discounting of future cash flows, the determination of the present rate, the assumptions used 

in the forecast of future cash flow and the estimated results have a significant impact on the 

evaluation of value-in-use of property, plant and equipment, so the accountants listed this as a 

key audit matter. 

 

How our audit addressed the matter 

The verification procedure that the accountant has performed is mainly to discuss the 

operation process of future cash flow estimation with the management and understand its 

product strategy and implementation status; evaluate the reasonableness of various 

assumptions used by the management to estimate future cash flows characteristics, including 

expected growth rate and gross profit margin, and evaluate the parameters used in the 

discount rate which including equity funds Risk-reward ratio, industry risk factor and long-

term market rate of return. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 

financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the parent company 

only  financial statements in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of 

Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of parent company only financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.   
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In preparing the parent company only financial statements, management is responsible for 

assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance, including audit committee, are responsible for overseeing the 

Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the parent company only 

financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 

high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

ROC GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 

arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 

of these parent company only financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ROC GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

A. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the parent company only financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 

to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

B. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control;  

C. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management;  

D. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the parent 

company only financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 

continue as a going concern;  

E. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the parent company only 

financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the parent company only 
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financial statements 

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation; and  

F. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the parent 

company only financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 

performance of the audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 

relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 

and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 

matters that were of most significance in the audit of the parent company only financial 

statements for the year ended December 31,2022 and are therefore the key audit matters. We 

describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 

matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 

so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication. 

 

 

Cheng, Ya-Huei 

Chiang Tsai-yen        

 

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Taiwan 

March 08, 2023 
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     December 31,2022   December 31,2021  

 Assets  Notes  AMOUNT   %   AMOUNT   %  

 Current assets                 

1100 Cash and cash equivalents  6(1)  $ 180,416   11   $ 140,685   7  

1170 Accounts receivable, net  6(3)   122,807   7    201,997   10  

1180 
Accounts receivable due from related 

parties, net  6(3) and 7   4,751   -    9,767   1  

1200 Other receivables     486   -    14   -  

1210 
Other receivables due from related 

parties  7   88,869   5    38,534   2  

130X Inventories  6(4)   352,097   21    379,527   20  

1410 Prepayments     4,858   -    6,158   -  

11XX Total current assets     754,284   44    776,682   40  

 Non-current assets                 

1517 
Non-current financial assets at fair 

value through other comprehensive 

income 

 6(2) 

  -   -    7,990   -  

1535 
Non-current financial assets at 

amortized cost  8   74,619   4    36,856   2  

1550 
Investments accounted for using 

equity method  6(5)   386,323   23    426,097   22  

1600 Property, plant and equipment  6(6)   363,706   21    512,782   27  

1755 Right-of-use assets  6(7)   119,391   7    125,614   7  

1780 Intangible assets  6(9)   872   -    1,861   -  

1840 Deferred tax assets  6(25)   23,485   1    23,382   1  

1900 Other non-current assets     75   -    10,075   1  

15XX Total non-current assets     968,471   56    1,144,657   60  

1XXX Total assets    $ 1,722,755   100   $ 1,921,339   100  
 

(continued)
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     December 31,2022   December 31,2021  
 Liabilities and equity  Notes  AMOUNT   %   AMOUNT   %  

 Current liabilities                 

2100 Short-term loans  6(10)  $ 366,651   21   $ 485,750   25  

2150 Notes payable     2,826   -    720   -  

2170 Accounts payable     21,342   1    69,414   4  

2180 Accounts payable to related parties  7   6,556   -    10,154   1  

2200 Other payables  6(11)   107,658   6    125,761   7  

2220 Other payables to related parties  6(11) and 7   184,509   11    220,499   11  

2280 Current lease liabilities     7,846   1    7,846   -  

2320 Long-term loans, current portion  6(12)   51,704   3    35,556   2  

2399 Other current liabilities, others     2,798   -    3,908   -  

21XX Total current liabilities     751,890   43    959,608   50  

 Non-current liabilities                 

2540 Long-term loans  6(12)   85,453   5    52,500   3  

2580 Non-current lease liabilities     114,963   7    120,461   6  

2600 Other non-current liabilities     890   -    890   -  

25XX Total non-current liabilities     201,306   12    173,851   9  

2XXX Total liabilities     953,196   55    1,133,459   59  

 Equity                 

 Share capital  6(14)               

3110 Ordinary shares     764,747   45    764,747   40  

 Capital surplus  6(15)               

3200 Capital surplus     180,243   10    173,917   9  

 Retained earnings  6(16)               

3310 Legal reserve     433   -    433   -  

3320 Special reserve     3,893   -    3,893   -  

3350 Accumulated deficit   (  170,400 ) ( 10 ) (  133,136 ) ( 7 ) 

 Other equity interest  6(17)               

3400 Other equity interest   (  9,357 )  -  (  21,974 ) ( 1 ) 

3XXX Total equity     769,559   45    787,880   41  

 Significant commitments and 

contingencies 
 9 

              

 Significant subsequent events  11               

3X2X Total liabilities and equity    $ 1,722,755   100   $ 1,921,339   100  



 TRUELIGHT CORPORATION 
PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

                               YEARS ENDED DECEMBER31, 2022 AND 2021         
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF NEW TAIWAN DOLLARS, EXCEPT LOSS PER SHARE) 
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     Year ended December 31  

     2022   2021  

Items  Notes  Amount   %   Amount   %  

4000 Operating revenue  6(18)  $ 987,858   100   $ 1,317,997   100  

5000 Operating costs  6(4) (23) 

(24) (  716,846 ) ( 72 ) (  1,148,608 ) ( 87 ) 

5900 Gross profit from operation     271,012   28    169,389   13  

5910 Unrealized profit from sales   (  300 )  -  (  500 )  -  

5920 Realized profit from sales     500   -    231   -  

5950 Gross profit from operation, net     271,212   28    169,120   13  

 Operating expenses  6(23) 

(24)               

6100 Selling expenses   (  18,494 ) ( 2 ) (  21,321 ) ( 2 ) 

6200 Administrative expenses   (  76,653 ) ( 8 ) (  84,558 ) ( 6 ) 

6300 Research and development 
expenses 

  
(  163,359 ) ( 16 ) (  202,012 ) ( 15 ) 

6450 Impairment loss/gain and reversal of 
impairment loss determined in 
accordance with IFRS 9 

 12 

(  166 )  -    18   -  

6000 Total operating expenses   (  258,672 ) ( 26 ) (  307,873 ) ( 23 ) 

6900 Net operating profit (loss)     12,540   2  (  138,753 ) ( 10 ) 

 Non-operating income and 
expenses 

  
              

7100 Interest income  6(19)   1,048   -    211   -  

7010 Other income  6(20)   37,301   4    18,916   1  

7020 Other gains and losses, net  6(21) (  9,230 ) ( 1 ) (  5,547 )  -  

7050 Finance costs, net  6(22) (  10,894 ) ( 1 ) (  11,718 ) ( 1 ) 

7070 Share of profit (loss) of 
subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures accounted for using 
equity method 

 6(5) 

(  57,055 ) ( 6 )   4,121   -  

7000 Total non-operating income 
and expenses 

  
(  38,830 ) ( 4 )   5,983   -  

7900 Profit (loss) before income tax   (  26,290 ) ( 2 ) (  132,770 ) ( 10 ) 

7950 Income tax expense     103   -    -   -  

8200 Profit (1oss) for the year   ( $ 26,187 ) ( 2 ) ( $ 132,770 ) ( 10 ) 

 Other comprehensive income, net                 

 Items that will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss 

  
              

8316 Unrealized gains (losses) from 
investments in equity 
instruments measured at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income 

 6(2) (17) 

( $ 7,180 ) ( 1 ) ( $ 340 )  -  

 Items that may be subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss 

  
              

8380 Exchange differences on 
translation 

 6(17) 
  8,720   1  (  942 )  -  

8300 Total other comprehensive 
income, net 

  
 $ 1,540   -  ( $ 1,282 )  -  

8500 Total comprehensive income for 
the year 

  
( $ 24,647 ) ( 2 ) ( $ 134,052 ) ( 10 ) 

            

 Loss per share  6(26)         

9750 Basic loss per share   ( $ 0.34 ) ( $ 1.74 ) 

9850 Diluted loss per share   ( $ 0.34 ) ( $ 1.74 ) 



 TRUELIGHT CORPORATION 
PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF NEW TAIWAN DOLLRS) 

       Retained earnings  Other equity interest   
 

Notes 

 

Ordinary 
share 

 

Capital 
surplus 

 

Legal reserve 

 

Special 
reserve 

 
Unappropriated 

retained 
earnings 

(accumulated 
deficit) 

 
Exchanges 

differences on 
translation of 

foreign financial 
statements 

 Unrealized gains (losses) 
from investments in 
equity instruments 

measured at fair value 
through other 

comprehensive income 

 

Others 

 

Total equity 
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Year ended December 31, 2021                                      

 Equity at beginning of period    $ 764,747    $ 173,917    $ -    $ -    $ 4,325   ( $ 17,135 )  ( $ 3,557 )  ( $ 13,581 )   $ 908,716  

    Loss for the year    -    -    -    -   ( 132,770 )   -    -    -   ( 132,770 ) 

    Other comprehensive income for the year 6(2) (17)   -    -    -    -    -   ( 942 )  ( 340 )   -   ( 1,282 ) 

  Total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -   ( 132,770 )  ( 942 )  ( 340 )   -   ( 134,052 ) 

  Distribution of retained earnings of 
2020: 

 
                                    

    Legal reserve appropriated 6(16)   -    -    433    -   ( 433 )   -    -    -    -  

    Special reserve appropriated 6(16)   -    -    -    3,893   ( 3,893 )   -    -    -    -  

  Compensation cost of employee 
restricted shares 

6(17) 
  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    13,581    13,581  

  Changes in ownership interest in 
subsidiaries    -    -    -    -   ( 365 )   -    -    -   ( 365 ) 

  Equity at end of period    $ 764,747    $ 173,917    $ 433    $ 3,893   ( $ 133,136 )  ( $ 18,077 )  ( $ 3,897 )   $ -    $ 787,880  

Year ended December 31, 2022                                      

  Equity at beginning of period    $ 764,747    $ 173,917    $ 433    $ 3,893   ( $ 133,136 )  ( $ 18,077 )  ( $ 3,897 )   $ -    $ 787,880  

    Loss for the year    -    -    -    -   ( 26,187 )   -    -    -   ( 26,187 ) 

    Other comprehensive income for the year 6(2) (17)   -    -    -    -    -    8,720   ( 7,180 )   -    1,540  

  Total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -   ( 26,187 )   8,720   ( 7,180 )   -   ( 24,647 ) 
  Disposal of investments in equity 

instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 

 
  -    -    -    -   ( 11,077 )   -    11,077    -    -  

  Changes in ownership interest in 
subsidiaries 

6(15) 
  -    6,326    -    -    -    -    -    -    6,326  

  Equity at end of period    $ 764,747    $ 180,243    $ 433    $ 3,893   ( $ 170,400 )  ( $ 9,357 )   $ -    $ -    $ 769,559   



 TRUELIGHT CORPORATION 
PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF NEW TAIWAN DOLLARS) 

    Year ended December 31  
  Notes  2022    2021  
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES            

loss before tax   ( $ 26,290 )  ( $ 132,770 ) 

Adjustments            

Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss)            

Expected credit loss (gain)  12   166   (  18 ) 

Depreciation expense  6(6)(7) 

(23)   123,161     223,159  

Amortization expense  6(9) (23)   1,648     1,149  
Net gain on financial assets or liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss 

 6(21) 
  1,670   (  498 ) 

Interest income  6(19) (  1,048 )  (  211 ) 

Dividend income  6(20)   -   (  480 ) 

Interest expense  6(22)   10,894     11,718  

Compensation cost of employee restricted 

shares 

  

  -     12,263  

Gain on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 

 6(21) 
(  4,224 )  (  4,393 ) 

Gain on disposal of other assets   (  1,678 )  (  1,659 ) 

Unrealized profit from sales     300     500  

Realized profit from sales   (  500 )  (  231 ) 
Share of profit (loss) of subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures accounted for 
using equity method 

  

  57,055   (  4,121 ) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities            

Changes in operating assets            

Accounts receivable     79,024     10,654  

Accounts receivable due from related 

parties 

  

  5,016   (  7,438 ) 

Other receivables   (  394 )  (  5 ) 

Other receivables due from related parties   (  50,335 )  (  2,080 ) 

Inventories     27,430     91,805  

Prepayments     1,300     3,803  

Changes in operating liabilities            

Financial liabilities held for trading     -     275  

Notes payable     2,106   (  122 ) 

Accounts payable   (  48,072 )  (  9,233 ) 

Accounts payable to related parties   (  3,598 )    10,154  

Other payables   (  18,286 )  (  10,114 ) 

Other payables to related parties   (  35,990 )    31,626  

Other current liabilities   (  1,110 )    1,729  

Cash inflow generated from operations     118,245     225,462  

Interest received     1,006     214  

Dividend received     -     480  

Interest paid   (  10,809 )  (  11,674 ) 

Income taxes received (paid)   (  35 )    45  

Net cash flows from operating activities     108,407     214,527  

 (continued)



 TrueLight Corporation 
PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF NEW TAIWAN DOLLARS) 

    Year ended December 31  
  Notes  2022    2021   
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CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES            

Proceeds from capital reduction of financial assets 

at fair value through other comprehensive income  12  $ 773    $ -  

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair 

value through other comprehensive income     37     -  

Prepayment of investment  7   -   (  10,000 ) 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  6(27) (  14,742 )  (  46,186 ) 

 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 

 7 

  59,741     13,615  

Acquisition of intangible assets  6(9) (  659 )  (  979 ) 

Decrease in prepayments for business facilities     -     2,112  

Increase in refundable deposits     -   (  1 ) 

Increase in other financial assets  8 (  37,763 )  (  4,280 ) 

Net cash flows from (used in) investing 

activities     7,387   (  45,719 ) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES            

Decrease in short-term loans  6(28) (  119,099 )  (  59,545 ) 

Proceeds from long-term loans  6(28)   92,500     40,000  

Repayments of long-term loans  6(28) (  43,399 )  (  146,666 ) 

Other financing activities     -     777  

Repayments of lease liabilities  6 (7) (28) (  6,065 )  (  5,949 ) 

Net cash flows used in financing 

activities   (  76,063 )  (  171,383 ) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     39,731   (  2,575 ) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     140,685     143,260  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period    $ 180,416    $ 140,685  
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Attachments 7.  

Independent Auditor’s report and 2022 consolidated financial statements 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of TrueLight Corporation 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TrueLight Corporation 

and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated 

statements of comprehensive income, of changes in equity and of cash flows for the years then ended, 

and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its consolidated 

financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the 

Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and the International 

Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards, IFRIC Interpretations, and SIC 

Interpretations as endorsed by the Financial Supervisory Commission. 

Basis for opinion 

  We conducted our audits in accordance with the “Regulations Governing Auditing and Attestation of 

Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants” and Generally Accepted Auditing Standards in 

the Republic of China (ROC GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 

the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 

report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Professional Ethics for Certified 

Public Accountants in the Republic of China (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the Group’s 2022 consolidated financial statements. These matters were addressed in the context 

of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole and, in forming our opinion thereon, we 

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
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Key audit matters for the Group’s 2022 consolidated financial statements are stated as follows:  

 

Evaluation of inventories 

Description 

For the accounting policy of inventory evaluation, please refer to Note 4 (12) of the consolidated 

financial report; for the description of inventory items, please refer to Notes 5(2) and 6(4) to the 

Consolidated Financial Statements. Due to fierce market price competition for the products operated by 

the TL Group, The risk of inventory price loss is relatively high, and the TL Group measures the lower 

of the cost and net realizable value of the inventory; For inventories that have passed a specific period 

of age and for inventories that are individually identified as obsolete or damaged, the net Realized value 

often involves manual judgment and thus has estimation uncertainty, so the accountant listed this as a 

key check item.  

 

How our audit addressed the matter 

The audit procedures performed by the accountant are based on the understanding of the operation and 

industry nature of the TL Group, and the evaluation of the inventory. The rationality of policies and 

procedures; the correctness of sampling inventory aging calculation; Relevant information, such as sales 

price, purchase price, and inventory depletion status, to confirm the rationality of the net realizable value, 

and evaluate the rationality of provisioning for loss of price reduction. 

 

Property, plant and equipment value-in-use measurement 

Description 

Please refer to Note 4 (17) of the consolidated financial report for the accounting policy on the 

assessment of impairment of real estate, plant and equipment; For descriptions of real estate, plant and 

equipment items, please refer to Notes V (2) and VI (6) of the consolidated financial report. TL Group 

is not the use value of movable property, plant and equipment shall be used to measure its recoverable 

amount, and the real property, plant and equipment shall be evaluated based on the aforementioned 

recoverable amount Whether the room and equipment are damaged. Valuation of the value in use of 

property, plant and equipment involves estimation and discounting of future cash flows. The 

determination of the present rate, the assumptions used in the forecast of future cash flow and the 

estimated results have a great impact on the evaluation of real estate, plant and equipment. The value in 

use has a significant impact, so the accountants listed this as a key audit item. 

How our audit addressed the matter 

The verification procedure that the accountant has performed is mainly to discuss the operation process 

of future cash flow estimation with the management and Understand its product strategy and 

implementation status; evaluate the reasonableness of various assumptions used by the management to 

estimate future cash flows characteristics, including expected growth rate and gross profit margin. And 
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evaluate the parameters used in the discount rate, including whether to calculate the cost of equity funds 

Risk-reward ratio, industry risk factor and long-term market rate of return. 

Other matter–Parent company only financial reports 

We have audited and expressed an unqualified opinion on the parent company only financial statements 

of TrueLight Corporation. as at and for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 

consolidated financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by 

Securities Issuers and the International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting 

Standards, IFRIC Interpretations, and SIC Interpretations as endorsed by the Financial Supervisory 

Commission, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for 

assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 

going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 

liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Those charged 

with governance, including audit committee, are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial 

reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ROC GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when 

it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 

the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ROC GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

A. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control; 

B. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
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effectiveness of the Group’s internal control;  

C. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management;  

D. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern;  

E. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation; and  

F. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and 

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

Cheng, Ya-Huei 

Chiang Tsai-yen        

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Taiwan 

March 08, 2023 
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     December 31,2022   December 31,2021  
 Assets  Notes  AMOUNT   %   AMOUNT   %  

 Current assets                 

1100 Cash and cash equivalents  6(1)  $ 252,870   15   $ 185,293   10  

1170 Accounts receivable, net  6(3)   125,076   8    203,254   12  

1180 
Accounts receivable due from related 

parties, net  6(3)and 7   2,370   -    5,786   -  

1200 Other receivables     690   -    1,719   -  

130X Inventories, net  6(4)   403,078   24    409,660   23  

1410 Prepayments     9,349   1    10,116   1  

11XX Total current assets     793,433   48    815,828   46  

 Non-current assets                 

1517 
Non-current financial assets at fair 

value through other comprehensive 

income 

 6(2) 

  -   -    7,990   1  

1535 
Non-current financial assets at 

amortized cost  8   74,619   5    36,856   2  

1550 
Investments accounted for using 

equity method  6(5)   23,752   1    21,655   1  

1600 Property, plant and equipment  6(6)   583,713   36    730,134   41  

1755 Right-of-use assets  6(7)   125,337   8    125,614   7  

1780 Intangible assets  6(8)   15,164   1    17,653   1  

1840 Deferred tax assets  6(25)   23,485   1    23,382   1  

1900 Other non-current assets     2,960   -    2,871   -  

15XX Total non-current assets     849,030   52    966,155   54  

1XXX Total assets    $ 1,642,463   100   $ 1,781,983   100  
 
 

(continued)
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     December 31,2022   December 31,2021  
 Liabilities and equity  Notes  AMOUNT   %   AMOUNT   %  

 Liabilities                 

 Current liabilities                 

2100 Short-term loans  6(9)  $ 376,414   23   $ 529,366   30  

2150 Notes payable     2,826   -    720   -  

2170 Accounts payable     22,644   1    73,196   4  

2200 Other payables  6(11)   122,897   8    143,729   8  

2280 Current lease liabilities     13,964   1    7,846   1  

2320 Long-term loans, current portion  6(12)   61,304   4    35,764   2  

2399 Other current liabilities, others     2,901   -    2,116   -  

21XX Total current liabilities     602,950   37    792,737   45  

 Non-current liabilities                 

2500 Non-current financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss 
 6(10) 

  -   -    -   -  

2540 Long-term loans  6(12)   151,138   9    62,292   3  

2580 Non-current lease liabilities     114,963   7    120,461   7  

2600 Other non-current liabilities     113   -    13,630   1  

25XX Total non-current liabilities     266,214   16    196,383   11  

2XXX Total liabilities     869,164   53    989,120   56  

 Equity                 

 Equity attributable to owners of 

parent 
  

              

 Share capital  6(14)               

3110 Ordinary shares     764,747   47    764,747   43  

 Capital surplus  6(15)               

3200 Capital surplus     180,243   11    173,917   10  

 Retained earnings  6(16)               

3310 Legal reserve     433   -    433   -  

3320 Special reserve     3,893   -    3,893   -  

3350 Accumulated deficit   (  170,400 ) ( 10 ) (  133,136 ) ( 8 ) 

 Other equity interest  6(17)               

3400 Other equity interest   (  9,357 ) ( 1 ) (  21,974 ) ( 1 ) 

31XX Total equity attributable to 

owners of parent 
  

  769,559   47    787,880   44  

36XX Non-controlling interest     3,740   -    4,983   -  

3XXX Total equity     773,299   47    792,863   44  

 Significant commitments and 

contingencies 
 9 

              

 Significant subsequent events  11               

3X2X Total liabilities and equity    $ 1,642,463   100   $ 1,781,983   100  
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     Year ended December 31  

     2022   2021  

Items  Notes  AMOUNT   %   AMOUNT   %  

4000 Operating revenue  6(18)  $ 989,635   100   $ 1,313,847   100  

5000 Operating costs  6(4)(23) (24) (  733,231 ) ( 74 ) (  1,081,377 ) ( 82 ) 

5900 Gross profit from operation     256,404   26    232,470   18  

5910 Unrealized profit from sales  6(5) (  300 )  -  (  500 )  -  

5920 Realized profit from sales  6(5)   500   -    231   -  

5950 Gross profit from operation, net     256,604   26    232,201   18  

 Operating expenses  6(23) (24)               

6100 Selling expenses   (  18,876 ) ( 2 ) (  21,409 ) ( 2 ) 

6200 Administrative expenses   (  108,753 ) ( 11 ) (  119,373 ) ( 9 ) 

6300 Research and development 
expenses 

  
(  187,137 ) ( 19 ) (  212,107 ) ( 16 ) 

6450 Impairment loss/gain and reversal of 
impairment loss determined in 
accordance with IFRS 9 

 12 

(  166 )  -    18   -  

6000 Total operating expenses   (  314,932 ) ( 32 ) (  352,871 ) ( 27 ) 

6900 Net operating loss   (  58,328 ) ( 6 ) (  120,670 ) ( 9 ) 

 Non-operating income and expenses                 

7100 Interest income  6(19)   1,272   -    298   -  

7010 Other income  6(20)   3,619   -    3,993   -  

7020 Other gains and losses, net  6(21)   18,662   2  (  1,726 )  -  

7050 Finance costs, net  6(22) (  13,422 ) ( 1 ) (  14,627 ) ( 1 ) 

7060 Share of profit (loss) of associates 
and joint ventures accounted for 
using equity method 

 6(5) 

  1,897   -  (  959 )  -  

7000 Total non-operating income 
and expenses 

  
  12,028   1  (  13,021 ) ( 1 ) 

7900 Loss before income tax   (  46,300 ) ( 5 ) (  133,691 ) ( 10 ) 

7950 Total tax income (expense)  6(25)   206   -  (  6,855 ) ( 1 ) 

8200 Loss for the year   ( $ 46,094 ) ( 5 ) ( $ 140,546 ) ( 11 ) 

 Items that will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss: 

  
              

8316 Unrealized gains (losses) from 
investments in equity 
instruments measured at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income: 

 6(2)(17) 

( $ 7,180 ) ( 1 ) ( $ 340 )  -  

 Items that may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss 

  

              

8361 Exchange differences on 
translation 

 6(17) 
  8,720   1  (  942 )  -  

8300 Total other comprehensive 

income, net 

  

 $ 1,540   -  ( $ 1,282 )  -  

8500 Total comprehensive income for 
the year 

  
( $ 44,554 ) ( 5 ) ( $ 141,828 ) ( 11 ) 

 Profit (loss), attributable to:                 

8610 Owners of parent   ( $ 26,187 ) ( 3 ) ( $ 132,770 ) ( 10 ) 

8620 Non-controlling interests   ( $ 19,907 ) ( 2 ) ( $ 7,776 ) ( 1 ) 

 Comprehensive income 
attributable to: 

  
              

8710 Owners of parent   ( $ 24,647 ) ( 3 ) ( $ 134,052 ) ( 10 ) 

8720 Non-controlling interests   ( $ 19,907 ) ( 2 ) ( $ 7,776 ) ( 1 ) 

 Loss per share  6(26)         

9750 Basic loss per share   ( $ 0.34 ) ( $ 1.74 ) 

9850 Diluted loss per share   ( $ 0.34 ) ( $ 1.74 ) 

 



 TRUELIGHT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF NEW TAIWAN DOLLRS) 

   
Equity attributable to owners of parent 

     
       Retained earnings  Other equit interest       
 

Notes 

 

Ordinary 
shares 

 

Capital 
surplus 

 

Legal 
reserve 

 

Special 
reserve 

 

Unappropria
ted 

retained 
earnings 

(accumulate
d deficit) 

 

Exchanges 
differences on 
translation of 

foreign 
financial 
statements 

 Unrealized gains 
(losses) from 
investments in 

equity instruments 
measured at fair 
value through 

other 
comprehensive 

income 

 

Others 

 

Total equity 
attributable 
to owners of 

parent 

 

Non-controlling 

interests 

 

Total equity 
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Year ended December 31, 2021                                              

  Equity at beginning of period  
  

$
 764,747    

$
 173,917    $ -    $ -    $ 4,325   ( $ 17,135 )  ( $ 3,557 )  ( $ 13,581 )   $ 908,716    $ 12,394    $ 921,110  

    Loss for the year    -    -    -    -   ( 132,770 )   -    -    -   ( 132,770 )  ( 7,776 )  ( 140,546 ) 

     Other comprehensive income for the year 6(2)(17)   -    -    -    -    -   ( 942 )  ( 340 )   -   ( 1,282 )   -   ( 1,282 ) 

  Total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -   ( 132,770 )  ( 942 )  ( 340 )   -   ( 134,052 )  ( 7,776 )  ( 141,828 ) 

  Distribution of retained earnings of 2020:                                              

    Legal reserve appropriated 6(16)   -    -    433    -   ( 433 )   -    -    -    -    -    -  

    Special reserve appropriated 6(16)   -    -    -    3,893   ( 3,893 )   -    -    -    -    -    -  

  Compensation cost of employee restricted 
shares 

6(17) 
  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    13,581    13,581    -    13,581  

  Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries    -    -    -    -   ( 365 )   -    -    -   ( 365 )   365    -  

  Equity at end of period  
  

$
 764,747    

$
 173,917    $ 433    $ 3,893   ( 

$
 133,136 )  ( $ 18,077 )  ( $ 3,897 )   $ -    $ 787,880    $ 4,983    $ 792,863  

Year ended December 31, 2022                                              

  Equity at beginning of period  
  

$
 764,747    

$
 173,917    $ 433    $ 3,893   ( 

$
 133,136 )  ( $ 18,077 )  ( $ 3,897 )   $ -    $ 787,880    $ 4,983    $ 792,863  

    Loss for the year    -    -    -    -   ( 26,187 )   -    -    -   ( 26,187 )  ( 19,907 )  ( 46,094 ) 

    Other comprehensive income for the year 6(2)(17)   -    -    -    -    -    8,720   ( 7,180 )   -    1,540    -    1,540  

  Total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -   ( 26,187 )   8,720   ( 7,180 )   -   ( 24,647 )  ( 19,907 )  ( 44,554 ) 

  Disposal of investments in equity instruments 
measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

 

  -    -    -    -   ( 11,077 )   -    11,077    -    -    -    -  

  Conversion of preference share 6(10)(27)   -    6,326    -    -    -    -    -    -    6,326    18,664    24,990  

  Equity at end of period  
  

$
 764,747    

$
 180,243    $ 433    $ 3,893   ( 

$
 170,400 )  ( $ 9,357 )   $ -    $ -    $ 769,559    $ 3,740    $ 773,299  



 TRUELIGHT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 

(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF NEW TAIWAN DOLLARS) 
    Year ended December 31  
  Notes  2022    2021   
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities            
Loss before tax   ( $ 46,300 )  ( $ 133,691 ) 
Adjustments            

Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss)            
Expected credit loss (gain)  12   166   (  18 ) 
Depreciation expense  6(23)   180,585     279,081  
Amortization expense  6(23)   3,148     2,649  
Net gain on financial assets or liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss 

 6(21) 
(  5,010 )  (  498 ) 

Interest income  6(19) (  1,272 )  (  298 ) 
Dividend income  6(20)   -   (  480 ) 
Interest expense  6(22)   13,422     14,627  
Compensation cost of employee restricted 
shares 

  
  -     13,581  

Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 

 6(21) 
(  75 )    630  

Unrealized profit from sales  6(5)   300     500  
Realized profit from sales  6(5) (  500 )  (  231 ) 
Share of loss (profit) of associates and joint 
ventures accounted for using equity method 

 6(5) 
(  1,897 )    959  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities            
Changes in operating assets            

Accounts receivable     82,880     8,181  
Accounts receivable due from related 
parties 

  
  3,416   (  3,457 ) 

Other receivables     1,138     7,713  
Inventories     7,024     66,556  
Prepayments     783     3,139  

Changes in operating liabilities            
Financial liabilities held for trading     -     275  
Notes payable     2,106   (  122 ) 
Accounts payable   (  50,682 )  (  9,806 ) 
Other payables   (  21,838 )  (  7,411 ) 
Other current liabilities   (  1,101 )  (  115 ) 

Cash inflow generated from operations     166,293     241,764  
Interest received     1,231     300  
Dividend received     -     480  
Interest paid   (  13,336 )  (  14,603 ) 
Income taxes received (paid)     1,452   (  10,205 ) 

Net cash flows from operating activities     155,640     217,736  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities            
Proceeds from capital reduction of financial assets 
at fair value through other comprehensive income 

 12 
  773     -  

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair 
value through other comprehensive income 

  
  37     -  

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  6(28) (  16,288 )  (  48,099 ) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 

  
  75     15  

Acquisition of intangible assets  6(8) (  659 )  (  979 ) 
Decrease in prepayments for business facilities     -     2,112  
Increase in refundable deposits   (  90 )  (  594 ) 
Increase in other financial assets   (  37,762 )  (  4,280 ) 

Net cash flows used in investing activities   (  53,914 )  (  51,825 ) 

(continued) 



 TRUELIGHT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 

(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF NEW TAIWAN DOLLARS) 
    Year ended December 31  
  Notes  2022    2021  
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities            

Decrease in short-term loans  6(29) ( $ 153,777 )  ( $ 61,714 ) 

Proceeds from long-term loans  6(29)   158,326     50,000  

Repayments of long-term loans  6(29) (  43,940 )  (  160,519 ) 

Repayments of lease liabilities  6(29) (  11,879 )  (  11,612 ) 

Issuance of preference shares by subsidiaries  6(28)   16,483     -  

Other financing activities  6(28) 

(29)   -     13,517  

Net cash flows used in financing activities   (  34,787 )  (  170,328 ) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 

equivalents     638   (  33 ) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     67,577   (  4,450 ) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     185,293     189,743  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period    $ 252,870    $ 185,293  
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Attachments 8 

 

TrueLight Corporation 

Deficit Compensation Statement 

2022 

Unit: NTD 

 

    Subtotal       Total    Note 

Accumulated deficit on Dec. 31, 2021            (133,135,226) 

 

Less: Net loss after tax for 2022                 ( 26,187,090) 

 

The net profit after tax this term added with 
items other than net profit this term added 
with unappropriated retained earnings of the 
current year 

  

Less: Adjustment of retained earnings from 
disposal of equity instruments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 

 
( 11,077,348) 

Deficit yet to be compensated at the end of the 
period 

(170,399,664) 

  
  

Chairman：Liu, Sheng Hsien      

President：Liu, Han Xing    

Accounting Supervisor：Chen, Ping Lin 
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Attachments 9. 

TrueLight Corporation 

Amendment Comparison Table of Articles of Incorporation 

Article After Amendment Before Amendment Description 

Article 5 The company's total capital is rated 
at NT$1.5 billion, which is divided 
into 150 million shares, each with 
a par value of NT$10, issued in 
installments. 

 

The company's total capital is rated 
at NT$1.2 billion, which is divided 
into 120 million shares, each with a 
par value of NT$10, issued in 
installments. 
In the total capital of Item 1, 
NT$60,000,000 is reserved for the 
issuance of employee stock option 
certificates, a total of 6,000,000 
shares, with a par value of NT$10 
per share, which may be issued in 
installments according to the 
resolution of the board of directors. 

Amended 
the content 
to meet the 
needs of 
operation 

Article 10 The convening and announcement 
of the company's shareholders 
meeting and extraordinary 
shareholders meeting shall be 
handled in accordance with the 
provisions of Article 172 of the 
Company Act. 
When the shareholders meeting 

is in session, it may be held via 
virtual meeting or other means 
announced by the central 
competent authority.  

The convening and announcement 
of the company's shareholders 
meeting and extraordinary 
shareholders meeting shall be 
handled in accordance with the 
provisions of Article 172 of the 
Company Act. 

Amended 
the content 
to comply 
with the 
amendment 
of Article 
172-2 of the 
Company 
Act. 
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Article After Amendment Before Amendment Description 

Article 28 The Articles is established and 
approved by the founder-members on 
August 15, 1997. 
Amendment on May 11, 1998, the 1st 
Amendment on July 12, 1999, the 2nd 
Amendment on January 12, 2000, the 
3rd 
Amendment on January 12, 2000, the 
4th 
Amendment on June 27, 2000, the 5th 
Amendment on May 21, 2002, the 6th 
Amendment on June 26, 2002, the 7th 
Amendment on June 27, 2007, the 8th 
Amendment on June 24, 2008, the 9th 
Amendment on June 17, 2009, the 
10th 
Amendment on June 21, 2010, the 
11th 
Amendment on January 12, 2011, the 
12th 
Amendment on June 30, 2011, the 
13th 
Amendment on May 30, 2012, the 14th 
Amendment on June 18, 2013, the 
15th 
Amendment on May 30, 2014, the 16th 
Amendment on May 18, 2016, the 17th 
Amendment on June 22, 2017, the 
18th 
Amendment on June 24, 2020, the 
19th 
Amendment on May 24, 2023, the 
20th 

The Articles is established and 
approved by the founder-members on 
August 15, 1997. 
Amendment on May 11, 1998, the 1st 
Amendment on July 12, 1999, the 2nd 
Amendment on January 12, 2000, the 
3rd 
Amendment on January 12, 2000, the 
4th 
Amendment on June 27, 2000, the 5th 
Amendment on May 21, 2002, the 6th 
Amendment on June 26, 2002, the 7th 
Amendment on June 27, 2007, the 8th 
Amendment on June 24, 2008, the 9th 
Amendment on June 17, 2009, the 
10th 
Amendment on June 21, 2010, the 
11th 
Amendment on January 12, 2011, the 
12th 
Amendment on June 30, 2011, the 
13th 
Amendment on May 30, 2012, the 14th 
Amendment on June 18, 2013, the 
15th 
Amendment on May 30, 2014, the 16th 
Amendment on May 18, 2016, the 17th 
Amendment on June 22, 2017, the 
18th 
Amendment on June 24, 2020, the 
19th 

 

Newly 
added the 
number and 
date of the 
amendment. 
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Attachments10.  

TrueLight Corporation 

Amendment Comparison Table of Rules of Procedure for Shareholders 

Meetings  

After Amendment Before Amendment Description 

Article 3： 

Unless otherwise provided by law or 
regulation, the company's 
shareholders meetings shall be 
convened by the board of directors. 

Changes to how the company 
convenes its shareholders meeting 
shall be resolved by the board of 
directors, and shall be made no 
later than mailing of the 
shareholders meeting notice. 

For the convening of the regular 
shareholders meeting, a meeting 
agenda shall be compiled, and all 
shareholders shall be notified 30 days 
in advance. For shareholders holding 
less than 1,000 registered shares, the 
announcement may be made by 
entering MOPS 30 days in advance; 
The convening of an extraordinary 
meeting shall be notified to all 
shareholders 15 days in advance, and 
for shareholders holding less than 
1,000 registered shares, the 
announcement may be made by 
entering MOPS 15 days in advance. 

Article 3： 

Unless otherwise provided by law or 
regulation, the company's shareholders 
meetings shall be convened by the 
board of directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

For the convening of the regular 
shareholders meeting, a meeting 
agenda shall be compiled, and all 
shareholders shall be notified 30 days 
in advance. For shareholders holding 
less than 1,000 registered shares, the 
announcement may be made by 
entering MOPS 30 days in advance; 
The convening of an extraordinary 
meeting shall be notified to all 
shareholders 15 days in advance, and 
for shareholders holding less than 
1,000 registered shares, the 
announcement may be made by 
entering MOPS 15 days in advance. 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations of 
the competent 
authority 

Article 4： 

For each shareholders meeting, a 
shareholder may appoint a proxy to 
attend the meeting by providing the 
proxy form issued by the company and 
stating the scope of the proxy's 
authorization. 

A shareholder may issue only one 
proxy form and appoint only one proxy 
for any given shareholders meeting, 
and shall deliver the proxy form to the 
company before five days before the 
date of the shareholders meeting. 
When duplicate proxy forms are 
delivered, the one received earliest 
shall prevail unless a declaration is 
made to cancel the previous proxy 
appointment.  

After a proxy form has been 
delivered to the company, if the 

Article 4： 

For each shareholders meeting, a 
shareholder may appoint a proxy to 
attend the meeting by providing the 
proxy form issued by the company and 
stating the scope of the proxy's 
authorization. 

A shareholder may issue only one 
proxy form and appoint only one proxy 
for any given shareholders meeting, 
and shall deliver the proxy form to the 
company before five days before the 
date of the shareholders meeting. 
When duplicate proxy forms are 
delivered, the one received earliest 
shall prevail unless a declaration is 
made to cancel the previous proxy 
appointment.  

After a proxy form has been delivered 
to the company, if the shareholder 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 
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After Amendment Before Amendment Description 

shareholder intends to attend the 
meeting in person or to exercise voting 
rights by correspondence or 
electronically, a written notice of proxy 
cancellation shall be submitted to the 
company before two business days 
before the meeting date. If the 
cancellation notice is submitted after 
that time, votes cast at the meeting by 
the proxy shall prevail. 

If, after a proxy form is delivered 
to the company, a shareholder 
wishes to attend the shareholders 
meeting online, a written notice of 
proxy cancellation shall be 
submitted to the company two 
business days before the meeting 
date. If the cancellation notice is 
submitted after that time, votes cast 
at the meeting by the proxy shall 
prevail. 

intends to attend the meeting in person 
or to exercise voting rights by 
correspondence or electronically, a 
written notice of proxy cancellation shall 
be submitted to the company before 
two business days before the meeting 
date. If the cancellation notice is 
submitted after that time, votes cast at 
the meeting by the proxy shall prevail. 

Article 5： 

The venue for a shareholders 
meeting shall be the premises of the 
company, or a place easily accessible 
to shareholders and suitable for a 
shareholders meeting. The meeting 
may begin no earlier than 9 a.m. and 
no later than 3 p.m. Full consideration 
shall be given to the opinions of the 
independent directors with respect to 
the place and time of the meeting. 

The restrictions on the place of 
the meeting shall not apply when 
the company convenes a virtual-
only shareholders meeting.  

Article 5： 

The venue for a shareholders 
meeting shall be the premises of the 
company, or a place easily accessible 
to shareholders and suitable for a 
shareholders meeting. The meeting 
may begin no earlier than 9 a.m. and no 
later than 3 p.m. Full consideration shall 
be given to the opinions of the 
independent directors with respect to 
the place and time of the meeting. 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 

Article 6： 

The company shall specify in its 
shareholders meeting notices the time 
during which attendance registrations 
for shareholders, solicitors and 
proxies (collectively 
"shareholders") will be accepted, the 
place to register for attendance, and 
other matters for attention. 

The time during which shareholder 
attendance registrations will be 
accepted, as stated in the preceding 
paragraph, shall be at least 30 minutes 
prior to the time the meeting 
commences. The place at which 
attendance registrations are accepted 
shall be clearly marked and a sufficient 
number of suitable personnel assigned 

Article 6： 

The company shall specify in its 
shareholders meeting notices the time 
during which attendance registrations 
for shareholders will be accepted, the 
place to register for attendance, and 
other matters for attention.  
 
 
The time during which shareholder 
attendance registrations will be 
accepted, as stated in the preceding 
paragraph, shall be at least 30 minutes 
prior to the time the meeting 
commences. The place at which 
attendance registrations are accepted 
shall be clearly marked and a sufficient 
number of suitable personnel assigned 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 
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After Amendment Before Amendment Description 

to handle the registrations. For virtual 
shareholders meetings, 
shareholders may begin to register 
on the virtual meeting platform 30 
minutes before the meeting starts. 
Shareholders completing 
registration will be deemed as 
attend the shareholders meeting in 
person.  
Shareholders shall attend 
shareholders meetings based on 
attendance cards, sign-in cards, or 
other certificates of attendance. 
Solicitors soliciting proxy forms shall 
also bring identification documents for 
verification. 
The company shall furnish the 
attending shareholders with an 
attendance book to sign, or attending 
shareholders may hand in a sign-in 
card in lieu of signing in. 

The company shall furnish attending 
shareholders with the meeting agenda 
book, annual report, attendance card, 
speaker's slips, voting slips, and other 
meeting materials. Where there is an 
election of directors or supervisors, 
pre-printed ballots shall also be 
furnished. 

When the government or a juristic 
person is a shareholder, it may be 
represented by more than one 
representative at a shareholders 
meeting. When a juristic person is 
appointed to attend as proxy, it may 
designate only one person to represent 
it in the meeting. 

In the event of a virtual 
shareholders meeting, shareholders 
wishing to attend the meeting online 
shall register with the company two 
days before the meeting date. 

In the event of a virtual 
shareholders meeting, the company 
shall upload the meeting agenda 
book, annual report and other 
meeting materials to the virtual 
meeting platform at least 30 minutes 
before the meeting starts, and keep 
this information disclosed until the 
end of the meeting.  

to handle the registrations.  
Shareholders shall attend shareholders 
meetings based on attendance cards, 
sign-in cards, or other certificates of 
attendance. Solicitors soliciting proxy 
forms shall also bring identification 
documents for verification. 
The company shall furnish the attending 
shareholders with an attendance book 
to sign, or attending shareholders may 
hand in a sign-in card in lieu of signing 
in.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The company shall furnish attending 
shareholders with the meeting agenda 
book, annual report, attendance card, 
speaker's slips, voting slips, and other 
meeting materials. Where there is an 
election of directors or supervisors, pre-
printed ballots shall also be furnished. 

When the government or a juristic 
person is a shareholder, it may be 
represented by more than one 
representative at a shareholders 
meeting. When a juristic person is 
appointed to attend as proxy, it may 
designate only one person to represent 
it in the meeting.  
 
 

Article 6-1： 

To convene a virtual shareholders 
meeting, the company shall include 
the follow particulars in the 
shareholders meeting notice: 

 
(Newly added) 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 
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After Amendment Before Amendment Description 

1.How shareholders attend the 
virtual meeting and exercise 
their rights. 

2.Actions to be taken if the virtual 
meeting platform or participation 
in the virtual meeting is 
obstructed due to natural 
disasters, accidents or other 
force majeure events, at least 
covering the following 
particulars: 
A.To what time the meeting is 

postponed or from what time 
the meeting will resume if the 
above obstruction continues 
and cannot be removed, and 
the date to which the meeting 
is postponed or on which the 
meeting will resume. 

B.Shareholders not having 
registered to attend the 
affected virtual shareholders 
meeting shall not attend the 
postponed or resumed 
session. 

C.In case of a hybrid 
shareholders meeting, when 
the virtual meeting cannot be 
continued, if the total number 
of shares represented at the 
meeting, after deducting those 
represented by shareholders 
attending the virtual 
shareholders meeting online, 
meets the minimum legal 
requirement for a shareholder 
meeting, then the 
shareholders meeting shall 
continue. The shares 
represented by shareholders 
attending the virtual meeting 
online shall be counted 
towards the total number of 
shares represented by 
shareholders present at the 
meeting, and the shareholders 
attending the virtual meeting 
online shall be deemed 
abstaining from voting on all 
proposals on meeting agenda 
of that shareholders meeting. 

D.Actions to be taken if the 
outcome of all proposals have 
been announced and 
extraordinary motion has not 
been carried out. 
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After Amendment Before Amendment Description 

3.To convene a virtual-only 
shareholders meeting, 
appropriate alternative measures 
available to shareholders with 
difficulties in attending a virtual 
shareholders meeting online 
shall be specified. 

Article 8： 

The company, beginning from the 
time it accepts shareholder attendance 
registrations, shall make an 
uninterrupted audio and video 
recording of the registration procedure, 
the proceedings of the shareholders 
meeting, and the voting and vote 
counting procedures. The recorded 
materials of the preceding paragraph 
shall be retained for at least one year. 

If, however, a shareholder files a 
lawsuit pursuant to Article 189 of the 
Company Act, the recording shall be 
retained until the conclusion of the 
litigation. 

Where a shareholders meeting is 
held online, the company shall keep 
records of shareholder registration, 
sign-in, check-in, questions raised, 
votes cast and results of votes 
counted by the company, and 
continuously audio and video 
record, without interruption, the 
proceedings of the virtual meeting 
from beginning to end. 

    The information and audio 
and video recording in the 
preceding paragraph shall be 
properly kept by the company 
during the entirety of its existence, 
and copies of the audio and video 
recording shall be provided to and 
kept by the party appointed to 
handle matters of the virtual 
meeting.  

Article 8： 

The company, beginning from the 
time it accepts shareholder attendance 
registrations, shall make an 
uninterrupted audio and video recording 
of the registration procedure, the 
proceedings of the shareholders 
meeting, and the voting and vote 
counting procedures. The recorded 
materials of the preceding paragraph 
shall be retained for at least one year. 

If, however, a shareholder files a 
lawsuit pursuant to Article 189 of the 
Company Act, the recording shall be 
retained until the conclusion of the 
litigation. 

The counting of votes or election 
proposals at the shareholders' 
meeting shall be done in a public 
place at the shareholders' meeting, 
and after the counting of votes is 
completed, the voting results shall 
be announced on the spot, including 
the counted number of rights, and 
shall be recorded. 
 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 

Article 9： 

Attendance at shareholders 
meetings shall be calculated based on 
numbers of shares. The number of 
shares in attendance shall be 
calculated according to the shares 
indicated by the attendance book and 
sign-in cards handed in, and the 
shares checked in on the virtual 
meeting platform, plus the number of 
shares whose voting rights are 

Article 9： 

Attendance at shareholders meetings 
shall be calculated based on numbers 
of shares. The number of shares in 
attendance shall be calculated 
according to the shares indicated by the 
attendance book and sign-in cards 
handed in plus the number of shares 
whose voting rights are exercised by 
correspondence or electronically.  
 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 



 

~45~ 

After Amendment Before Amendment Description 

exercised by correspondence or 
electronically. 

The chair shall call the meeting to 
order at the appointed meeting time 
and disclose information concerning 
the number of nonvoting shares and 
number of shares represented by 
shareholders attending the meeting. 

However, when the attending 
shareholders do not represent a 
majority of the total number of issued 
shares, the chair may announce a 
postponement, provided that no more 
than two such postponements, for a 
combined total of no more than one 
hour, may be made. If the quorum is 
not met after two postponements and 
the attending shareholders still 
represent less than one third of the 
total number of issued shares, the 
chair shall declare the meeting 
adjourned. In the event of a virtual 
shareholders meeting, the company 
shall also declare the meeting 
adjourned at the virtual meeting 
platform. 

If the quorum is not met after two 
postponements as referred to in the 
preceding paragraph, but the attending 
shareholders represent one third or 
more of the total number of issued 
shares, a tentative resolution may be 
adopted pursuant to Article 175, 
paragraph 1 of the Company Act; all 
shareholders shall be notified of the 
tentative resolution and another 
shareholders meeting shall be 
convened within one month. In the 
event of a virtual shareholders 
meeting, shareholders intending to 
attend the meeting online shall re-
register to the company in 
accordance with Article 6. 
    When, prior to conclusion of the 
meeting, the attending shareholders 
represent a majority of the total 
number of issued shares, the chair 
may resubmit the tentative resolution 
for a vote by the shareholders meeting 
pursuant to Article 174 of the Company 
Act. 

 
The chair shall call the meeting to 

order at the appointed meeting time and 
disclose information concerning the 
number of nonvoting shares and 
number of shares represented by 
shareholders attending the meeting. 

However, when the attending 
shareholders do not represent a 
majority of the total number of issued 
shares, the chair may announce a 
postponement, provided that no more 
than two such postponements, for a 
combined total of no more than one 
hour, may be made. If the quorum is not 
met after two postponements and the 
attending shareholders still represent 
less than one third of the total number 
of issued shares, the chair shall declare 
the meeting adjourned. In the event of a 
virtual shareholders meeting, the 
company shall also declare the meeting 
adjourned at the virtual meeting 
platform. 

If the quorum is not met after two 
postponements as referred to in the 
preceding paragraph, but the attending 
shareholders represent one third or 
more of the total number of issued 
shares, a tentative resolution may be 
adopted pursuant to Article 175, 
paragraph 1 of the Company Act; all 
shareholders shall be notified of the 
tentative resolution and another 
shareholders meeting shall be 
convened within one month.  

 
 
 
 
 
When, prior to conclusion of the 

meeting, the attending shareholders 
represent a majority of the total number 
of issued shares, the chair may 
resubmit the tentative resolution for a 
vote by the shareholders meeting 
pursuant to Article 174 of the Company 
Act. 

Article 11： 

Before speaking, an attending 
shareholder must specify on a 
speaker's slip the subject of the 
speech, his/her shareholder account 

Article 11： 

Before speaking, an attending 
shareholder must specify on a 
speaker's slip the subject of the speech, 
his/her shareholder account number (or 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 
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number (or attendance card number), 
and account name. The order in which 
shareholders speak will be set by the 
chair. 

A shareholder in attendance who 
has submitted a speaker's slip but 
does not actually speak shall be 
deemed to have not spoken. When the 
content of the speech does not 
correspond to the subject given on the 
speaker's slip, the spoken content shall 
prevail. 

Except with the consent of the chair, 
a shareholder may not speak more 
than twice on the same proposal, and 
a single speech may not exceed 5 
minutes. If the shareholder's speech 
violates the rules or exceeds the scope 
of the agenda item, the chair may 
terminate the speech. 

When an attending shareholder is 
speaking, other shareholders may not 
speak or interrupt unless they have 
sought and obtained the consent of the 
chair and the shareholder that has the 
floor; the chair shall stop any violation. 

When a juristic person shareholder 
appoints two or more representatives 
to attend a shareholders meeting, only 
one of the representatives so 
appointed may speak on the same 
proposal. 

After an attending shareholder has 
spoken, the chair may respond in 
person or direct relevant personnel to 
respond. 

Where a virtual shareholders 
meeting is convened, shareholders 
attending the virtual meeting online 
may raise questions in writing at the 
virtual meeting platform from the 
chair declaring the meeting open 
until the chair declaring the meeting 
adjourned. No more than two 
questions for the same proposal 
may be raised. Each question shall 
contain no more than 200 words. 
The regulations in paragraphs 1 to 5 
do not apply. 

attendance card number), and account 
name. The order in which shareholders 
speak will be set by the chair. 

A shareholder in attendance who has 
submitted a speaker's slip but does not 
actually speak shall be deemed to have 
not spoken. When the content of the 
speech does not correspond to the 
subject given on the speaker's slip, the 
spoken content shall prevail. 

Except with the consent of the chair, 
a shareholder may not speak more than 
twice on the same proposal, and a 
single speech may not exceed 5 
minutes. If the shareholder's speech 
violates the rules or exceeds the scope 
of the agenda item, the chair may 
terminate the speech. 

When an attending shareholder is 
speaking, other shareholders may not 
speak or interrupt unless they have 
sought and obtained the consent of the 
chair and the shareholder that has the 
floor; the chair shall stop any violation. 

When a juristic person shareholder 
appoints two or more representatives to 
attend a shareholders meeting, only 
one of the representatives so appointed 
may speak on the same proposal. 

After an attending shareholder has 
spoken, the chair may respond in 
person or direct relevant personnel to 
respond.  
 
 

Article 13： 

(Paragraph 1~3 omitted) 
After a shareholder has exercised 

voting rights by correspondence or 
electronic means, in the event the 
shareholder intends to attend the 

Article 13： 

(Paragraph 1~3 omitted) 
After a shareholder has exercised 

voting rights by correspondence or 
electronic means, in the event the 
shareholder intends to attend the 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 
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shareholders meeting in person or 
online, a written declaration of intent 
to retract the voting rights already 
exercised under the preceding 
paragraph shall be made known to the 
company, by the same means by 
which the voting rights were exercised, 
before two business days at latest 
before the date of the shareholders 
meeting. If the notice of retraction is 
submitted after that time, the voting 
rights already exercised by 
correspondence or electronic means 
shall prevail. When a shareholder has 
exercised voting rights both by 
correspondence or electronic means 
and by appointing a proxy to attend a 
shareholders meeting, the voting rights 
exercised by the proxy in the meeting 
shall prevail. 

Except as otherwise provided in the 
Company Act and in the company's 
articles of incorporation, the passage 
of a proposal shall require an 
affirmative vote of a majority of the 
voting rights represented by the 
attending shareholders. 

At the time of a vote, for each 
proposal, the chair or a person 
designated by the chair shall first 
announce the total number of voting 
rights represented by the attending 
shareholders. 
(Paragraph 6~8 omitted) 

When the company convenes a 
virtual shareholders meeting, after 
the chair declares the meeting open, 
shareholders attending the meeting 
online shall cast votes on proposals 
and elections on the virtual meeting 
platform before the chair announces 
the voting session ends or will be 
deemed abstained from voting. 

In the event of a virtual 
shareholders meeting, votes shall 
be counted at once after the chair 
announces the voting session ends, 
and results of votes and elections 
shall be announced immediately. 

When the company convenes a 
hybrid shareholders meeting, if 
shareholders who have registered 
to attend the meeting online in 
accordance with Article 6 decide to 
attend the physical shareholders 
meeting in person, they shall revoke 

shareholders meeting in person, a 
written declaration of intent to retract 
the voting rights already exercised 
under the preceding paragraph shall be 
made known to the company, by the 
same means by which the voting rights 
were exercised, before two business 
days at latest before the date of the 
shareholders meeting. If the notice of 
retraction is submitted after that time, 
the voting rights already exercised by 
correspondence or electronic means 
shall prevail. When a shareholder has 
exercised voting rights both by 
correspondence or electronic means 
and by appointing a proxy to attend a 
shareholders meeting, the voting rights 
exercised by the proxy in the meeting 
shall prevail. 

 
Except as otherwise provided in the 

Company Act and in the company's 
articles of incorporation, the passage of 
a proposal shall require an affirmative 
vote of a majority of the voting rights 
represented by the attending 
shareholders.  

At the time of a vote, for each 
proposal, the chair or a person 
designated by the chair shall first 
announce the total number of voting 
rights represented by the attending 
shareholders. 
(Paragraph 6~8 omitted) 

If the chairman consults with all 
the shareholders present and has no 
objection to the proposal, it shall be 
deemed passed, and its effect is the 
same as that of voting by ballot; if 
there is any objection, it shall be 
voted by ballot in accordance with 
the provisions of the preceding 
paragraph. Except for the proposals 
listed in the agenda, other proposals 
proposed by shareholders or 
amendments to or alternatives to the 
original proposal shall be seconded 
by other shareholders, and the 
shareholding of the proposer and the 
representative of the seconder shall 
reach ?% or more of the total voting 
rights of the issued shares ? shares.  
(Paragraph 7~9 omitted) 
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their registration two days before 
the shareholders meeting in the 
same manner as they registered. If 
their registration is not revoked 
within the time limit, they may only 
attend the shareholders meeting 
online. 

When shareholders exercise 
voting rights by correspondence or 
electronic means, unless they have 
withdrawn the declaration of intent 
and attended the shareholders 
meeting online, except for 
extraordinary motions, they will not 
exercise voting rights on the 
original proposals or make any 
amendments to the original 
proposals or exercise voting rights 
on amendments to the original 
proposal.  
(Paragraph 7~9 omitted) 

Article 15： 

(Paragraph 1~3 omitted) 
Where a virtual shareholders 

meeting is convened, in addition to 
the particulars to be included in the 
meeting minutes as described in the 
preceding paragraph, the start time 
and end time of the shareholders 
meeting, how the meeting is 
convened, the chair's and 
secretary's name, and actions to be 
taken in the event of disruption to 
the virtual meeting platform or 
participation in the meeting online 
due to natural disasters, accidents 
or other force majeure events, and 
how issues are dealt with shall also 
be included in the minutes. 

When convening a virtual-only 
shareholder meeting, other than 
compliance with the requirements in 
the preceding paragraph, the 
company shall specify in the 
meeting minutes alternative 
measures available to shareholders 
with difficulties in attending a 
virtual-only shareholders meeting 
online  

Article 15： 

(Paragraph 1~3 omitted) 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 
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Article 16： 

On the day of a shareholders 
meeting, the company shall compile in 
the prescribed format a statistical 
statement of the number of shares 
obtained by solicitors through 
solicitation, the number of shares 
represented by proxies and the 
number of shares represented by 
shareholders attending the meeting 
by correspondence or electronic 
means, and shall make an express 
disclosure of the same at the place of 
the shareholders meeting. In the 
event a virtual shareholders 
meeting, the company shall upload 
the above meeting materials to the 
virtual meeting platform at least 30 
minutes before the meeting starts, 
and keep this information disclosed 
until the end of the meeting. 

During the company's virtual 
shareholders meeting, when the 
meeting is called to order, the total 
number of shares represented at the 
meeting shall be disclosed on the 
virtual meeting platform. The same 
shall apply whenever the total 
number of shares represented at the 
meeting and a new tally of votes is 
released during the meeting. 

If matters put to a resolution at a 
shareholders meeting constitute 
material information under applicable 
laws or regulations or under Taiwan 
Stock Exchange Corporation (or Taipei 
Exchange Market) regulations, the 
company shall upload the content of 
such resolution to the MOPS within the 
prescribed time period.  

Article 16： 

On the day of a shareholders 
meeting, the company shall compile in 
the prescribed format a statistical 
statement of the number of shares 
obtained by solicitors through 
solicitation, the number of shares 
represented by proxies, and shall make 
an express disclosure of the same at 
the place of the shareholders meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

If matters put to a resolution at a 
shareholders meeting constitute 
material information under applicable 
laws or regulations or under Taiwan 
Stock Exchange Corporation (or Taipei 
Exchange Market) regulations, the 
company shall upload the content of 
such resolution to the MOPS within the 
prescribed time period. 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 

Article 19： 

In the event of a virtual 
shareholders meeting, the company 
shall disclose real-time results of 
votes and election immediately after 
the end of the voting session on the 
virtual meeting platform according 
to the regulations, and this 
disclosure shall continue at least 15 
minutes after the chair has 
announced the meeting adjourned.  

Article 19： 

If the company establishes an 
audit committee, the regulations on 
supervisors in these rules shall 
cease to apply. 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 
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Article 20： 

When the company convenes a 
virtual-only shareholders meeting, 
both the chair and secretary shall 
be in the same location, and the 
chair shall declare the address of 
their location when the meeting is 
called to order.  

Article 20： 

These Rules shall take effect after 
having been submitted to and 
approved by a shareholders meeting. 
Subsequent amendments thereto 
shall be effective in the same 
manner. (newly added) 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 

Article 21： 

In the event of a virtual 
shareholders meeting, the company 
may offer a simple connection test 
to shareholders prior to the 
meeting, and provide relevant real-
time services before and during the 
meeting to help resolve 
communication technical issues. 

In the event of a virtual 
shareholders meeting, when 
declaring the meeting open, the 
chair shall also declare, unless 
under a circumstance where a 
meeting is not required to be 
postponed to or resumed at another 
time under Article 44-20, paragraph 
4 of the Regulations Governing the 
Administration of Shareholder 
Services of Public Companies, if the 
virtual meeting platform or 
participation in the virtual meeting 
is obstructed due to natural 
disasters, accidents or other force 
majeure events before the chair has 
announced the meeting adjourned, 
and the obstruction continues for 
more than 30 minutes, the meeting 
shall be postponed to or resumed 
on another date within five days, in 
which case Article 182 of the 
Company Act shall not apply. 

For a meeting to be postponed or 
resumed as described in the 
preceding paragraph, shareholders 
who have not registered to 
participate in the affected 
shareholders meeting online shall 
not attend the postponed or 
resumed session. 

For a meeting to be postponed or 
resumed under the second 
paragraph, the number of shares 
represented by, and voting rights 
and election rights exercised by the 
shareholders who have registered 
to participate in the affected 

 
(Newly added) 
 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 
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shareholders meeting and have 
successfully signed in the meeting, 
but do not attend the postpone or 
resumed session, at the affected 
shareholders meeting, shall be 
counted towards the total number of 
shares, number of voting rights and 
number of election rights 
represented at the postponed or 
resumed session. 

During a postponed or resumed 
session of a shareholders meeting 
held under the second paragraph, 
no further discussion or resolution 
is required for proposals for which 
votes have been cast and counted 
and results have been announced, 
or list of elected directors. 

When the company convenes a 
hybrid shareholders meeting, and 
the virtual meeting cannot continue 
as described in second paragraph, 
if the total number of shares 
represented at the meeting, after 
deducting those represented by 
shareholders attending the virtual 
shareholders meeting online, still 
meets the minimum legal 
requirement for a shareholder 
meeting, then the shareholders 
meeting shall continue, and not 
postponement or resumption 
thereof under the second paragraph 
is required. 

Under the circumstances where a 
meeting should continue as in the 
preceding paragraph, the shares 
represented by shareholders 
attending the virtual meeting online 
shall be counted towards the total 
number of shares represented by 
shareholders present at the 
meeting, provided these 
shareholders shall be deemed 
abstaining from voting on all 
proposals on meeting agenda of 
that shareholders meeting. 

When postponing or resuming a 
meeting according to the second 
paragraph, the company shall 
handle the preparatory work based 
on the date of the original 
shareholders meeting in 
accordance with the requirements 
listed under Article 44-20, paragraph 
7 of the Regulations Governing the 
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Administration of Shareholder 
Services of Public Companies. 

For dates or period set forth 
under Article 12, second half, and 
Article 13, paragraph 3 of 
Regulations Governing the Use of 
Proxies for Attendance at 
Shareholder Meetings of Public 
Companies, and Article 44-5, 
paragraph 2, Article 44-15, and 
Article 44-17, paragraph 1 of the 
Regulations Governing the 
Administration of Shareholder 
Services of Public Companies, the 
company shall handle the matter 
based on the date of the 
shareholders meeting that is 
postponed or resumed under the 
second paragraph.  

Article 22： 

When convening a virtual-only 
shareholders meeting, the company 
shall provide appropriate alternative 
measures available to shareholders 
with difficulties in attending a virtual 
shareholders meeting online.  

 
(Newly added) 

Amended in 
accordance with 
the regulations 
of the competent 
authority 

Article 23： 

These Rules shall take effect after 
having been submitted to and 
approved by a shareholders 
meeting. Subsequent amendments 
thereto shall be effective in the 
same manner. 

 
(Newly added) 
 

Article order 
adjustment:  
Article 20th to 
23rd  

 

 

 

 


